



Version 15

Disclaimer

DXtreme Station Log 15. DXtreme Software disclaims all warranties, express or implied, including, without limitation, the warranties of merchantability and of fitness for any purpose. DXtreme Software assumes no liability for damages — direct or consequential — which may result from the use of DXtreme Station Log 15, its self-extracting executable file, setup program, or documentation.

Trademarks of DXtreme Software

DXtreme[™] DXtreme Software[™] DXtreme Station Log[™] DXtreme Station Log 15 [™] DXCC Analytics[™] DX Spot Checker[™] Improv Imaging[™] QSL Imaging[™] WAS Analytics[™]

Other Trademarks and Credits

Apple® and Safari® are registered trademarks of Apple Inc. Audacity® is a registered trademark Copyright © 2021 Audacity Team. Band Master, DX Atlas, Ham CAP, IonoProbe, and Omni-Rig are owned by Afreet Software, Inc. Click http://www.dxatlas.com for more information. Club Log ® Michael Wells, G7VJR. DXCC® and QST® are registered trademarks of and LoTW is owned by the American Radio Relay League, Inc. (ARRL). Google[™] and Chrome[™] are trademarks of Google Inc. HamCall[™] and HamCall.net[™] are trademarks of Buckmaster Publishing[™]. Ham Radio Deluxe V5.x is owned by HRD Software, LLC. You are responsible for obtaining any licenses required by the owner to use it. HamOTH.com is owned by Petr, OK2COR. IOTA[™] and RSGB[™] are trademarks of the Radio Society of Great Britain. JS8Call is owned by Jordan Sherer, KN4CRD. © 2019 JS8Call.com. JTDX by HF Community. © Igor UA3DJY and Arvo Jarve ES1JA. Microsoft®, Windows®, Windows 11®, Windows 10®, Windows 8.1®, Windows 8®, Windows 7®, Windows Vista®, Windows XP®, Internet Explorer®, and Microsoft Edge™ are trademarks or registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation. Mozilla®, Firefox®, and Thunderbird® are registered trademarks of the Mozilla Foundation. QDure is owned by Unión de Radioaficionados Españoles. Copyright © 2021 - Unión de Radioaficionados Españoles. QRZ.COM is owned and operated by Fred Lloyd, AA7BQ. The Country.Dat file is offered to the Amateur Radio community by Jim Reisert, AD1C. TrustedQSL (TQSL) and Logbook of the World (LoTW) are owned and managed by the ARRL. Vivaldi[™] is a trademark of Vivaldi Technologies[™]. WSJT-X is owned by Joe Taylor, K1JT. Portions of this product were created using LEADTOOLS. © 1991-2021, LEAD Technologies, Inc. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. © 1985-2021, IOTA Listings, Radio Society of Great Britain. For terms and conditions of IOTA usage and documentation, see their web site. All other product names in this Help system are trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective companies.

DXtreme Station Log and its components are protected by US and international copyright laws. Copyright© 1995-2021 DXtreme Software. All Rights Reserved. www.dxtreme.com

Table of Contents

Before You Begin	1
Setting Initial Preferences	3
Identifying Your Home Entity	
Setting Other Preferences	
Database + UDF	
Internet	
Outgoing QSLs	
Auto Backups Report Viewer	15
LoTW DX Atlas	
Contests Band Master	20
Ham CAP JT log Entry Processing	23
Satting Initial DX Spot Checker Ontions	28
Server and Spots	28
Additional Commands	30
Services	
Mode-Per-Band Plans	
Populating the Modules	38
Entities Module	
Rigs, Antennas, Accessories, Power Modules	
Bands Module	
Modes Module	
IOTA Module	

STOP! Backup Time!	
Adding Legacy Contacts	46
Importing ADIF Files	
How the ADIF Import Utility Selects Entities for Log Entries Being Imported	47
What to Do Before Importing a Previous Log	
Important — Be Sure to Do This!	49
How the Import Behaves	
Checking DX Spots	52
Logging On	
Service Set Identifier	
Ready Set Go	
Colorting the Food	52
Dich Site Feed	
Grid Feed	
Adding and Modifying Log Entries	57
Adding Standard Log Entries	
Logging Spotted Stations	
Using JT Log Entry Processing	
Notes Regarding WSJT-X, JTDX, and JS8Call	
Modifying Log Entries	
Last Log Entries Grid and Window	59
Automatic LoTW Upload Caption and Bar	
Outgoing QSL Web Service Integration	64
How It Works	64
Viewing the Workfile Outgoing QSL Web Service Properties	66 67
Club Log Integration	
Automatic Club Log Record Creation	
Club Log Workfile Upload	
Setting Up Direct Print QSL Labels	70

Reports	75
DXCC Analytics DXCC Needed Lists Previous Entity Lists	75 77 77
WAS Analytics WAS Needed Lists Previous State Lists	78 79 79
Performance	80
Bands	80
Stations	80
Filtering Reports Filtering Suggestion	81 82
Output Devices	82
Running Reports When Using Station Log 15 on Windows 11 and Windows 10 21H2 and Later	82
Performing Updates	84
Prefix and Call Sign Cross-References Performing an Interactive Update Performing Non-Interactive Updates Clearing the Exception Cache	84 86 87 88
Logbook of the World Users	89
IOTA Reference Numbers and Descriptions	92
NOAA Solar Indices Today's Solar Indices Historic Solar Indices Update Facility	94 94 95
Support	97

Before You Begin

Before you begin, install and start **DXtreme Station Log 15** by following the *Installation Instructions* we sent with your software.

This document, the **DXtreme Station Log 15 Getting Started Guide**, explains how to get started with **DXtreme Station Log 15** by showing you the most basic steps required to use it.

There are many more features and functions available within the product, so please spend some time reading — and referring to — the **DXtreme Station Log 15 Help** system, which consists of two parts: **Procedural Help** and **Field Help**

🧟 Procedural Help

If you don't know how to perform a task, click the **Procedural Help** button and the first relevant **Procedural Help** topic for the window or dialog box you're on appears. If there's more than one relevant topic, you can click an adjacent topic on the help system's **Contents** tab to navigate to the help you need, but you'll be in the neighborhood.



Field Help

For help with the fields of a window or dialog box you're on, click the **Field Help** button 0 and the relevant **Field Help** topic appears.



Note: Both **Procedural Help** and **Field Help** are also accessible from menu bars and shortcut menus throughout the program. Refer to "Obtaining help" in the **DXtreme Station Log 15 Help** system for more information.

Setting Initial Preferences

Identifying Your Home Entity

When you start **DXtreme Station Log 15** the first time, you see this message box:



Click **OK**. The **Station Log** window appears.

O DXtreme Station Log 15 -		×
File Edit Search Modules QSLing Audio Imaging Reports Maps Links Tools Help SFI: 89 Ap: 6 Kp: 2 (21:12:47)		
₩ ▼ 🔂 ▼ 🗮 ▼ 🎄 ▼ 🗃 ▼ 💁 ▼ 🖩 ▼ 🜠 🖩 🖻 🖂 🖂 🖂 🖂 🗆 🖉	ew 📴	X
Station Station Information Verification Comments User Defined Fields Improv Imaging		
Station Data Frequency, Band, and Mode Meter Band W	Vaveleng	th
Call Sign: Freq: kHz		
City: S/P: Mode:		
County: Grid:		
Entity: Signal Quality, Propagation, and Audio		
IOTA: Sent: Rcvd:		
CQ Zone: Name: Prop:		
DXCC: VUCC: File:	o [©]	≥
Band: 2x1° Grid:		
Mode: LoTW: CALL Radio Shack Digital Application Social Media Post Tune		iii JTP
Date and Time	-	
Date: log/200/2001 Start: Ant:		
Fnd:		
Acc:		
Solar Indices		S
SFI: Ap: Kp: Historic		0
Perform Station Log processing.	21:13:2	26

Resize it, if necessary, so it looks like the one shown.

Then, on the **Tools** menu, click **Preferences**.

The **Preferences** window appears.

Preferences	
Report Viewer LoTW Maps DX Atlas Contests Band Master Links Ham CAP JT Log Entry Processing	
User Database + UDF General Internet Solar Outgoing QSLs Auto QSL Imaging Audio Auto Backups	OK
Your Name and Location	Cancel
Name: Name	
Street: Street	Apply
City: City S/P: ST Zip: Zip	۲
County: County	
Home Entity: United States	
Latitude: 42 Longitude: -71 Grid: FN42	
Link to UDF: Define Distance Unit: Nautical Miles -	
E-Mail: mail@domain.com	
User Name: User Name Password: *******	
4	
Save and exit	

In the **Home Entity** box, click the DXCC entity within which you live. Then click **OK**.

Setting Other Preferences

From time to time, you'll revisit **Preferences** as you work with **DXtreme Station Log 15**.

Let's set some basic preferences right now. On the **Tools** menu, click **Preferences**.

User

Click the User tab.

Preferences		
Report Viewer LoTW Maps DX Atlas Contests Band Master Lin User Database + UDF General Internet Solar Outgoing QSLs Autor Your Name and Location	iks Ham CAP JT Log Entry Processing [0]	
Name: Greg Conrad Street: 100 Presidential Drive City: Supar Hill	Call: KA1BAM App S/P: NH Zip: 03586	ly ②
County: Grafton Home Entity: United States		
Latitude: 44.21528 Longitude: -71.799. Link to UDF:	44 Grid: FN44 Define Distance Unit: Nautical Miles www.conrad.com	
Your User Profile for Internet Access Use <u>r</u> Name: greg@conrad.com P <u>a</u> ss	word: ******	
Save and exit.	INS	APS

Type your name, call, and location information. *If you experience trouble* accessing Internet features within **Station Log 15**, enter your profile for Internet Access (consisting of your logon credentials established with your ISP). In the **Distance Unit** field, select the desired unit of measure for distance calculations made by **Station Log 15**.

Note: The **Link to UDF** check box and its adjacent list box allow you to assign coordinates and grid squares to multiple operating locations, which you *may* want to configure in a user-defined field (described in the next section). Bearing and distance calculations will be made, and plots* and reports will be based on the coordinates of the operating location selected for each log entry on the **User Defined Fields** tab of the **Station Log** window. Bearing calculations and plots on the **DX Spot Checker** will be based on the coordinates of the *default* operating location. If you do not want to set up operating locations in a user-defined field, all bearing and distance calculations, plots*, and reports are based on the default latitude and longitude specified on the **User** tab. Refer to "Entering your name and location and specifying UDF link definitions" in the **Procedural Help** for more information.

* — a license for Afreet DX Atlas is required to perform plots. Click <u>http://www.dxatlas.com</u> for more information.

Database + UDF

Click the **Database + UDF** tab.

Preferences		
Report Viewer LoTW Maps DX Atlas Contests Band Mas User Database + UDF General Internet Solar Outgoing QS	ter Links Ham CAP JT Log Entry Processing Ls Auto QSL Imaging Audio Auto Backups	ОК
Database Name and File Location	Location of Templates and Scripts	Cancel
Primary Database	C:\DXtremeStationLog15\TemplatesScripts	
C:\DXtremeStationLog15\Database		Appiy
Labels and Definitions for User-Defined Fields		🥙 📀
Section 1	Section 2	
Operating	Digital	
Order	Order	
lext 1: Submode 0 ▼	Pext 1: EME Degradation 4 ▼	
Text 2: Contest Name	Text 2: EME DPol	
Text 3: Contest Serial Number 2	Text 3: EME Tsky	
Text 4: Age of Ham Contacted 3 💌	Text 4: EME MNR 7 ▼	
Sort Order	Sort Order	
List 1: Receive Antenna Used	List 1: WSJT-X Operating Mode	
List 2: Outgoing Buro QSL Sce 🔽 1 🗸	List 2: Q65 T/R Period 4	
List 3: Operating Location	List 3: Q65 Submode	
Logging Mode	ce Application	
☑ Log Table Has All Log Entries	C HRD 5 VFO Tuning: VFO A and B ▼	
Comma As Decimal Symbol	C <u>N</u> one ,	
Save and exit	47	

Logging Mode

Important: If Region in Window's Control Panel is not set to the United States, check to see whether Region is configured to use the comma as the decimal symbol. If the comma is the decimal symbol for your region, select Comma As Decimal Symbol on the Database + UDF tab in Preferences and make sure your latitude and longitude fields on the User tab have commas instead of periods. In addition, make sure you have set your Time fields correctly in Region, as described in the DXtreme Station Log 15 Installation Instructions.

If **Region** *is set to the United States,* the **Comma As Decimal Symbol** check box on the **Database + UDF** tab in **Preferences** should have **no check mark** next to it. And there is no need to change your Time fields in **Region**.

User-Defined Fields

Manage your User-Defined Fields as desired.

In addition to others, we defined **Contest Name** and **Contest Serial Number** text box fields so we can use the **Contest Duplicate QSO Checking** facility (described later). In addition, we defined an **Operating Location** list box field to accommodate the locations from which we operate. These user-defined fields will appear on the **User Defined Fields** tab of the **Station Log** window, the **Set Criteria** window for reports, and the **ADIF Import Utility** and **LoTW QSL Update Utility** for data imports and updates.

As part of the **Operating Location** definition, we clicked the adjacent **Define List** button and listed our operating locations, specifying *Sugar Hill* as the default **Station Log** will select automatically when we add a log entry. We can change the location, of course, on the **User Defined Fields** tab of the **Station Log** window and its utilities.

Operating Location	Module				
Code	Description	Status	•	Sort By	
Nashua	Nashua	Active		● <u>C</u> ode	
Rye	Rye NH	Active		O Description	
Sugar Hill	Sugar Hill NH	Default		Add New	
				Delete	٥
				Close	0
C <u>o</u> de:				S <u>t</u> atus:	
J				Active	∇
Description:					
Add a record.				INS	CAPS

Note: At this point, if desired, we could use the **Link to UDF** check box and its adjacent list box on the **User** tab to assign coordinates and grid squares to the operating locations just defined.

Preferences				
Report Viewer	LoTW Maps DX Atlas Contests Band Master Links	Ham CAP JT L	og Entry Processing	
User Database	+ UDF General Internet Solar Outgoing QSLs Auto Q	SL Imaging Au	Idio Auto Backups	ок
Your Name an	d Location			Cancel
<u>N</u> ame:	Greg Conrad		Call: KA1BAM	Apply
<u>S</u> treet:	100 Presidential Drive			
C <u>i</u> ty:	Sugar Hill	S/ <u>P</u> : NH	<u>Z</u> ip: 03586	۲
Coun <u>t</u> y:	Grafton			
Home Entity:	United States	•	I	
Latitude: 44.:	21528 Longitude: -71.79944 F: Operating Location	De <u>f</u> ine	Grid: FN44	
E-Mail: gree	g@conrad.com Web: www	UDF Coordinate	e Link Definition	×
_ Your User Pro	file for Internet Access	0	perating Location: Rye NH	–
Use <u>r</u> Name:	greg@conrad.com P <u>a</u> sswor	d	La <u>t</u> itude: 42.9717569	
			Longitude: 70.7597738	
			Grid Locator: FN43	
			OK	el 🧕 🙆
		_ Save the reco	ord.	
UDE Coordinate	Link Definition selected.		I	NS CAPS

Bearing and distance calculations would then be made, and plots* and reports would then be based on the coordinates of the **Operating Location** selected for each log entry on the **User Defined Fields** tab of the **Station Log** window. Bearing calculations and plots on the **DX Spot Checker** would continue to be based on the coordinates of the *default* operating location. If you want to use this feature, refer to "Entering your name and location and specifying UDF link definitions" in the **Help** system for more information and instructions.

* — a license for Afreet DX Atlas is required to perform plots. Click <u>http://www.dxatlas.com</u> for more information.

Keep Last

If you're not using rig-control, you can click Keep Last ...

- Dia Control Interfa	ce Application -		
Kig Control Interna	ice Application		
O Omni-Rig	O <u>H</u> RD 5	VFO Tuning: VFO A and B	-
Keep Last	C <u>N</u> one		

... to add the **Keep?** check box to the **Station Log** window.



When you select **Keep?**, **Station Log 15** retains the frequency and mode between log entries until you clear the check box or click **Cancel**.

VFO Tuning

If you clicked **Omni-Rig** or **HRD 5**, click the **VFO Tuning** option that works best with your radio: *VFO A and B* or *VFO Generic*. Some experimentation is necessary.

-Rig Control Interf	ace Application —		
Omni-Rig	O <u>H</u> RD 5	VFO Tuning: VFO A and B	-
C Keep Last	C <u>N</u> one		

VFO A and B

When you select *VFO A and B*, the **VFO A** and **VFO B** option buttons are enabled on the **Tune** tab of the **Station Log** window, and the **Tune VFO-A to Frequency** and **Tune VFO-B to Frequency** menu items appear on the shortcut menu of the **DX Spot Checker**.

On some radios, tuning occurs on the VFO corresponding to the VFO A or VFO B option button clicked on the Tune tab of the Station Log window, or the Tune VFO-A to Frequency or Tune VFO-B to Frequency menu item clicked in the DX Spot Checker.

On other radios, tuning occurs only when clicking the VFO A option button on the Tune tab of the Station Log window, and the Tune VFO-A to Frequency item in the DX Spot Checker. In this instance, tuning occurs on the VFO currently selected on your radio. We have no control over this behavior.

VFO Generic

When you select *VFO Generic*, the **VFO A** option button is the only one enabled on the **Tune** tab of the **Station Log** window, and the **Tune Rig to Frequency** item is the only one appearing on the shortcut menu of the **DX Spot Checker**. Tuning occurs on the VFO currently selected on your radio (A or B).

General

Click the General tab.

Preferences		
Report Viewer LoTW Maps DX Atlas Contests Band Master User Database + UDF General Internet Solar Outgoing QSLs Call Sign Subscription Service Options C QRZ XML Logbook Data C Mamcall.net © HamQTH_com Uger Name: KA1BAM Password: ************************************	Links Ham CAP JT Log Entry Processing Auto QSL Imaging Audio Auto Backups Default Report Options Sent: 59 Rcvd: 59 Grid Status Check + Caption <u>VHF/UHF/SHF Only</u> Caption: VUCC UTC Processing <u>Caption: VUCC</u> UTC Processing <u>Manual UTC Bias:</u> 4 <u>Manual UTC Bias:</u> 4 <u>Manual UTC Bias:</u> 4 <u>V</u>	OK Cancel Apply
Save and exit.	INS	CAPS

If you *subscribe* to **Buckmaster**[™] **HamCall.net**[™], **QRZ XML Logbook Data**, and/or **HamQTH.com**, click the appropriate option button and enter the user name and password for that call sign subscription service. If you want to enter the user name and password of another service, *click Apply after each user name and password assignment*. If you *subscribe* to **Buckmaster**[™] **HamCall CD**, click its option button and browse to where the HamCall database resides on your PC.

Station Log 15 works best with QRZ XML Logbook Data and HamQTH.com.

A toolbar button on the Station Log window makes it easy to switch between services.



Note: If you are using the HamCall CD, be sure to install the HAMCAL32.DLL file in your Windows/System32 folder on 32-bit systems or the Windows/SysWOW64 folder on 64-bit systems. The HAMCAL32.DLL file resides in the \HamCall\API\Windows folder on the HamCall CD.

Click **Show Retain Date Check Box** if you plan, as part of your implementation, to typein contacts from years past on the **Station Log** window. Doing so allows you to freeze the date across multiple entries. You might also find our **DXtreme Interchange** product helpful for populating your **Station Log** database with log entries from non-ADIF sources. Refer to <u>https://www.dxtreme.com/prods_dxinterchange.htm</u> for more information.

If your location observes Daylight Saving Time, select **Automatic ST DST UTC** so **Station Log 15** obtains Standard Time/Daylight Saving Time information from Windows Time Zone Settings and adjusts the UTC date and time within **Station Log 15** automatically when your site changes from Standard Time to Daylight Saving Time and back again. For locations that don't observe Daylight Saving Time, clear **Automatic ST DST UTC** and set the **UTC Bias** value manually.

Note: If you have upgraded from an earlier version of **Station Log** you will need to reset your **UTC Processing** settings.

Internet

Click the Internet tab.

Preferences	
Report Viewer LoTW Maps DX Atlas Contests Band Master Links Ham CAP JT Log Entry Processing User Database + UDF General Internet Solar Outgoing QSLs Auto QSL Imaging Audio Auto Backups File Specification of Web Browser for General Use	OK Cancel Apply
E-Mail Client/Recipients for DX Spot Announcements and Images Sent By E-Mail C Windows Win32 MAP1 C Office Outlook Ihunderbird: C:\Program Files (x86)\Mozilla Thunderbird Recipients: ben@extreme.net;kristi@lincoln.art.com Club Log Upload Management URL: https://secure.clublog.org Create and Append Club Log Records Automatically When Log Entries Are Added/Modified	
Save and exit.	INS CAPS

In the **File Specification of Web Browser for General Use** area, use the **Browse** button to navigate to and select the file name of the browser you want to use for non-Report-Viewer use. If Microsoft Edge is your registered default browser in Windows 11 and Windows 10, type *Edge* to use it.

Important: The file specification of the browser we entered may not be appropriate for your system. Use the browse button to select the browser on your system.

In the E-Mail Client/Recipients for DX Spot Announcements and Images Sent By E-Mail area, select the e-mail client you want to use. If you select Mozilla Thunderbird, use the Thunderbird box to specify the fully qualified path to where your copy of Mozilla Thunderbird resides. If necessary, click the Browse button to find the path. If Mozilla Thunderbird is not installed, this box contains the path to the Audio subfolder of DXtreme Station Log 15. Use the Recipients box to enter the e-mail addresses of people you want to send DX spot announcements and images to.

In the **Club Log Upload Management** area, make sure the **URL** box contains the address of the Club Log Web site. Select the **Create and Append Club Log Records Automatically When Log Entries Are Added/Modified** check box to create Club Log workfile records automatically whenever you add or modify log entries.

Solar

Click the **Solar** tab.

Preferences	
Report Viewer LoTW Maps DX Atlas Contests Band Master Links Ham CAP JT Log Entry Processing User Database + UDF General Internet Solar Outgoing QSLs Auto QSL Imaging Auto Backups Solar Properties Imaging Auto Internet Solar Indices From NOAA Imaging Auto Backups Imaging Tab To Solar Indices Fields on the Station Log Window Internet Indices Web Page: Internet/Www.spaceweatherlive.com/en/archive General Solar Internet Solarham.net Internet/Web Page: Inters://www.solarham.net	OK Cancel Apply O
Save and exit.	

Unless you want to prevent the automatic acquisition of solar indices from NOAA, you should verify that the **Enable Automatic Acquisition of Today's Solar Indices From NOAA** check box is selected.

Outgoing QSLs

Click the **Outgoing QSLs** tab.

Preferences		
Report Viewer LoTW Maps DX Atlas Contests User Database + UDF General Internet Solar Location of Outgoing QSL Files C:\DXtremeStationLog15\OutgoingQSLs	Band Master Links Ham CAP JT Log Entry Processing Outgoing QSLs Auto QSL Imaging Audio Auto Backups	OK Cancel
QSL Label Properties ✓ Process QSL Labels Separately for Each Database ✓ Always Create Multi-line QSL Labels Define Closing Expression Text Define Signature Text: Tnx QSO 73 Greg ✓ Shortcut MHz Instead of Band on Direct Print Labels Toolbar Default: ✓	eQSL.cc Properties eQSL.cc URL: www.eqsl.cc <u>C</u> omment: Thanks for the QSO! Create and Append eQSL.cc Records Automatically When Log Entries Are Added/Modified Outgoing QSL Web Service Properties <u>Name:</u> QDure <u>URL:</u> https://qsl.ure.es/en/ Notes: Notes QSL Msgi Thanks for the QSO! Default Subject for eQSLs Sent By E-Mail	
✓ Display Alpha Month on Labels □ Translate Phone Mode To: Send QSL Default ○ Yes ③ Save and exit.	Subject: QSL of ARS:	INS CAPS

In the QSL Label Properties area, if Always Create Multi-line QSL Labels is selected, specify the desired Closing Expression and Signature text you want to display on QSO labels. If you want to display the Shortcut frequency in MHz (as defined on the Bands module window) instead of the band on QSL labels, select the Shortcut MHz Instead of Band on Direct Print Labels check box; otherwise, the band appears.

In the **eQSL.cc Properties** area, select the **Create and Append eQSL.cc Records Automatically When Log Entries Are Added/Modified** check box to create eQSL.cc workfile records automatically whenever you add or modify log entries.

In the **Outgoing QSL Web Service Properties** area, specify the outgoing QSL web service you want to use. **Station Log's Outgoing QSL Web Service** facility makes it easy to add and manage the workfile records you'll eventually upload to the Outgoing QSL Web Service you chose for distribution. At the time of this writing, DXtreme Software recommends *QDure* at <u>https://qsl.ure.es/en/</u>.

Refer to <u>Outgoing QSL Web Service Integration</u> in this document for more information.

Auto Backups

Click the Auto Backups tab.

Preferences		
Report Viewer LoTW Maps DX Atlas Contests Band Master Links Ham CAP JT Log Entry Processing User Database + UDF General Internet Solar Outgoing QSLs Auto QSL Imaging Audio Auto Backups		ок
□ Database Backup Paths (Specify Unique Paths for Each Database) □ Enable Path 1: X:\Database		Cancel
✓ Enable Path 2: C:\DXtremeStationLog15\Database		Apply
Backup Depth: 2 -		۲
Important: After specifying database backup paths, click OK before changing databases.		
Audio Backup Paths		
Enable Path 1: X:\Audio		
Enable Path 2: C:\Users\NE11\OneDrive\StationLog\Audio		
Improv Imaging Backup Paths		
✓ Enable Path 1: X:\Improv		
Enable Path 2: C:\DXtremeStationLog15\Improv		
QSL Imaging Backup Paths		
✓ Enable Path 2: C:\DXtremeStationLog15\IncomingQSLs		
	F	
Save and exit.	INS	CAPS

Select the appropriate check boxes and then browse to the locations where you want your important **Station Log 15** files backed up.

Database, Audio, Improv Imaging, and QSL Imaging backups occur automatically when you close the program. Database backups also occur when you switch databases on the **Database + UDF** tab.

Cloud services like OneDrive and USB flash drives are ideal destinations for such backups. Make sure they're connected/mounted on your system before the backups run.

Report Viewer

Click the Report Viewer tab.

Preferences		
User Databas Report Viewer L Report Viewer G Active Report File Specif C:\Program	e + UDF General Internet Solar Outgoing QSLs Auto QSL Imaging Audio Auto Backups pTW Maps DX Atlas Contests Band Master Links Ham CAP JT Log Entry Processing Preferences prefer	Cancel Apply
File Specif	ication of Web Browser for Standard Report Viewer Use	
FTP Definitions	for Uploading Active and Standard Reports	
ETP Address:	ftp://username@www.domain.com	
User Name:	username	
Password:	******	
P <u>o</u> rt:	21 Timeout: 60 FTP Subdirectory Assignments	

In the **Report Viewer Preferences** area, select the desired viewer for **Performance**, **Bands**, and **Stations** reports by clicking the **appropriate option button**.

The Active Report Viewer lets you view, share, and sort reports within Microsoft Internet Explorer and Microsoft[®] Edge[™] in Internet Explorer Mode.

The **Standard Report Viewer** lets you view and share reports within Apple[®] Safari[®], Google[™] Chrome[™], Mozilla[®] Firefox[®], Microsoft Edge, Vivaldi[™], and some other browsers.

In the Active Report Viewer File Specification ... box, specify the file specification of Microsoft Internet Explorer or Microsoft Edge. If using Edge, you'll need to follow the instructions in the *DXtreme Station Log/Internet Explorer Mode Information Center* to display the Active Report Viewer in *Internet Explorer Mode*. Click the following link to access this *Information Center* at:

https://www.dxtreme.com/dxsl_iemode_ic/informationcenter.htm.

In the **Standard Report Viewer File Specification** ... box, specify the file specification of the desired browser.

Important: The file specifications of the browsers we entered may not be appropriate for your system. Use the browse buttons to select the file specifications of the browsers

on your system. To display **Standard Reports** in Edge, Google Chrome, Vivaldi, and other browsers *locally*, you must also append the --allow-file-access-from-files Switch to the browser executable (include a space character between the file spec and the switch). In addition, make sure no other instance of the browser is running on your PC when you display reports *locally*.

LoTW

Click the **LoTW** tab.

Preferences	
User Database + UDF General Internet Solar Outgoing QSLs Auto QSL Imaging Audio Auto Backups Report Viewer LoTW Maps DX Atlas Contests Band Master Links Ham CAP JT Log Entry Processing TQSL and LoTW Account Properties	Cancel Apply
Automatic LoTW Upload Properties ✓ Upload Individual Log Entries Automatically Processing Interval: 2 Batch LoTW Upload Properties ✓ Upload Log Entries Semiautomatically (Clear for Manual Uploads) Processing Interval: 200 Display the LoTW Web Page When Uploading URL: https://lotw.arrl.org/lotwuser/default TQSL Display Delay: 200	
Save and exit.	INS CAPS

In the TQSL and LoTW Account Properties area:

- Verify where the TQSL application resides on your PC. The file specification we entered may not be appropriate for your system. TQSL V2.4 or greater is required if you want to upload log entries to Logbook of the World.
- Type your **TQSL Password**.
- Type your Active Station Location. If you have more than one station location, you must change it here to the current one. The Automatic LoTW Upload Progress caption on the Station Log window displays your active station location in parentheses and provides right-click access to the LoTW tab of Preferences.

In the Automatic LoTW Upload Properties area:

- Select whether to **Upload Individual Log Entries Automatically**.
- If necessary, set the Processing Interval low enough so automatic uploads occur quickly, but high enough so LoTW QSO Record Status is retrieved from the LoTW Server.

In the Batch LoTW Upload Properties area:

- When performing batch LoTW uploads, select Upload Log Entries
 Semiautomatically if you want TQSL to upload log entries to the LoTW Server for you and return LoTW QSO Record Status for the batch. Clear this check box to upload signed.tq8 files yourself on the LoTW Web page or by e-mail (Manual mode).
- Set the Processing Interval low enough so semiautomatic uploads occur quickly, but high enough so LoTW QSO Record Status is retrieved from the LoTW Server.
- Set whether to **Display the LoTW Web Page When Uploading**.
- Specify the **URL** of the LoTW web site.
- Set a desired TQSL Display Delay so TQSL appears on top of the LoTW web site in Manual mode only, useful if you want to watch TQSL in action.

In the Progress Caption Properties area:

- Set the desired foreground and background colors of progress captions application-wide.
- Select whether to apply **Bold** and/or **Italics** attributes to captions.

In the **Progress Bar Properties** area:

- Set the desired foreground and background colors of progress bars applicationwide.
- Select whether to apply a **3D Effect**, a **Border**, and/or a **Solid** versus segmented appearance to the bar.

Note: DXtreme Software suggests you perform limited LoTW uploads until you gain experience with them.

DX Atlas

If you own a license for Afreet DX Atlas, click the DX Atlas tab.

Select the **Invoke** check box and spend some time experimenting with the various settings. Refer to our **Help** system and to the **Afreet DX Atlas** documentation for more details.

Read "Guidelines when viewing DX Atlas maps" in the *Tips and Tricks* \rightarrow For Using Station Log section of our **Help** system.

Contests

Click the **Contests** tab.

Preferences		
User Database + UDF General Report Viewer LoTW Maps DX	Internet Solar Outgoing QSLs Auto QSL Imaging Audio Auto Backups Atlas Contests Band Master Links Ham CAP JT Log Entry Processing	ОК
Contest Duplicate QSO Checkin ✓ Enable Duplicate Checking Date Contest Starts: ime Contest Starts: ink Contest Name to UDF: Name of Contest:	09/04/2021 00:00 Contest Name All Asia DX Contest Phone	Cancel Apply
Serial Number Processing Increment Serial Numbers Link Serial Number to UDF: Next Serial Number to Assign:	Contest Serial Number	
Save and exit.		INS CAPS

If you're a casual contester, you can use this tab to set **Station Log 15** so it flags duplicate contacts (dupes) per band and mode when you attempt to log them, giving you the option of whether to continue.

Dupe checking begins at the date and time you specify and continues until you turn contest processing off. If desired, you can specify the name of the contest and link it to one of your text-based user-defined fields (UDFs) so it's saved with each log entry. At your option, you can also request the generation of incremental serial numbers, linking the numbers to another of your text-based UDFs for saving with each log entry. A provision to reset the serial number is provided.

There is no output to Cabrillo due to the sheer number of QSO templates involved. Serious contesters should use a contest logging program, and then import their logs into **DXtreme Station Log 15**.

Band Master

If you own a license for Afreet Band Master, click the Band Master tab.



Select the **Invoke** check box.

In the Entity List Location area, click Browse to select the file specification of the Band Master Entity Needed List file.

In Windows 11, Windows 10, Windows 8.1, Windows 8, Windows 7, and Windows Vista

The Entity Needed List file is typically at:

C:\Users\{username}\AppData\Roaming\Afreet\UserData\WkdAdif.lst

In Windows XP

The Entity Needed List file is typically at:

```
C:\Documents and Settings\{username}\Application
Data\Afreet\UserData\WkdAdif.lst
```

In the IOTA List Location area, click Browse to select the file specification of the Band Master IOTA[™] Needed List file.

In Windows 11, Windows 10, Windows 8.1, Windows 8, Windows 7, and Windows Vista

The IOTA Needed List file is typically at:

C:\Users\{username}\AppData\Roaming\Afreet\UserData\WkdIota.lst

In Windows XP

The IOTA Needed List file is typically at:

```
C:\Documents and Settings\{username}\Application
Data\Afreet\UserData\WkdIota.lst
```

In the **Display Delay** list box, click the desired delay setting so **Band Master** appears *after* **Station Log 15** has had a chance to build the Entity and IOTA **Needed Lists** you request on the **Tools** menu of the **Station Log** window. The higher the number, the longer the delay, and you should increase the number if you notice **Band Master** indicating you need entities and islands you do not. You can view the needed lists in **Band Master** via its **Tools** menu.

For more information, refer to *Checking DX Spots* \rightarrow *Using Band Master* in our **Help** system.

Ham CAP

If you've downloaded and installed Afreet Ham CAP, click the Ham CAP tab.

Preferences	
Iter Database + UDF General Internet Solar Outgoing QSLs Auto QSL Imaging Audio Auto Backups Report Viewer LoTW Maps DX Atlas Contests Band Master Links Ham CAP JT Log Entry Processing Ham CAP Application Properties Imaging Auto Backups JT Can Average Bower: 100 Imaging Auto Backups Application Initial Display Tab: Map Imaging Auto Backups Application Bearing and Distance Preference: Imaging Imaging Application Application Chart and Map Properties Imaging Imaging Imaging Application Map Style: Color Imaging Imaging Imaging Application Default Band: 17 Imaging Imaging	cel ily
Save and exit. INS	CAPS

Select the **Enabled** check box and set properties as desired:

- Initial Display Tab Initial display of *Chart* or *Map*.
- Average Power Average power you're running.
- IonoProbe On If you have the optional Afreet IonoProbe* application installed on your PC and want it to automatically provide solar information to Ham CAP, including the 90-day smoothed sunspot number (SSN). When this option is enabled, IonoProbe overrides the K-Index value supplied by Station Log 15. When IonoProbe is not installed, or is disabled, you may want to adjust the 90day smoothed sunspot number manually on the Params tab of Ham CAP. Note: Afreet Software has discontinued IonoProbe. Some of its features are no longer supported. Refer to http://dxatlas.com/ionoprobe/ for more information.
- Use Kp Whether you want Ham CAP to include the current K-Index value in its prediction calculations. If you don't have IonoProbe installed or enabled, the K-Index value is supplied by Station Log 15 (if your Internet connection is active and the index is available from NOAA).
- Map Style Color, Gray, or Pseudo to suit your taste.
- Map Resolution *High*, *Medium*, or *Low* to suit your taste.

- Default Band Band to select when the frequency of the spot is outside the 80-, 40-, 30-, 20-, 17-, 15-, 12-, or 10-Meter band, or when you invoke Ham CAP from the action bar. You can, of course, change the band on the Ham CAP interface.
- Show Sun Whether to show sun position on the Map display.
- **Plot Path** Whether to plot the path on the **Map** display.
- Plot MUF Whether to plot the maximum usable frequency on the Chart display.

Note: To use **Ham CAP** effectively, users must configure other parameters and settings on the **Ham CAP** interface. Home and DX coordinates are supplied by **Station Log 15**. Further, we encourage users to read the **Ham CAP** on-line documentation, which is available on the **Ham CAP** web page.

^{* —} a license for Afreet IonoProbe is required to use it. Click <u>http://www.dxatlas.com</u> for more information.

JT log Entry Processing

If you're a fan of WSJT-X, JTDX, or JS8Call and you want to use JT Log Entry Processing, click the **JT Log Entry Processing** tab.

Preferences		
User Database + UDF General Internet Solar Outgoing QSLs Auto QSL Imaging Audio Auto Backups Report Viewer LoTW Maps DX Atlas Contests Band Master Links Ham CAP JT Log Entry Processing	. 1	ОК
Properties for Logging Digital Contacts	- 11	Cancel
WSJT-X Log Folder: C:\Users\ne1i\AppData\Loca\WSJT-X		Apply
JTDX Log Folder: C:\Users\NE1NAppData\LocaNJTDX		۲
2S8Call Log Folder: C:\Users\ne1i\AppData\Local\JS8Call		
Submodes to Log As Modes:		
Separate Multiple Submodes With Semicolons		
Write Submodes To: UDF Text Box 1		
Change preferences, or click Cancel to exit.	I	NS CAPS

Click the desired button to set the location of:

- WSJT-X's wsjtx_log.adi file.
 - On 64-bit systems, this file is typically located at: c:\Users\[your_user_name]\AppData\Local\WSJT-X
 - On 32-bit systems, this file is typically located at: c:\Documents and Settings\[your_user_name]\Local Settings\Application Data\WSJT-X
- JTDX's wsjtx_log.adi file.
 - On 64-bit systems, this file is typically located at: c:\Users\[your_user_name]\AppData\Local\JTDX
 - On 32-bit systems, this file is typically located at: c:\Documents and Settings\[your_user_name]\Local Settings\Application Data\JTDX

- JT8Call's js8call_log.adi file.
 - On 64-bit systems, this file is typically located at:
 c:\Users\[your_user_name]\AppData\Local\JS8Call
 - On 32-bit systems, this file is typically located at: c:\Documents and Settings\[your_user_name]\Local Settings\Application Data\JS8Call

In the **Submodes to Log As Modes** box, specify the *submodes* you want **Station Log** to log as *modes*. If typing multiple submodes, separate each with a semicolon.

For example: FT4 is a submode of MFSK and appears in the wsjtx_log.adi file as <mode: 4>MFSK <submode: 3>FT4. Including FT4 in the Submodes to Log As Modes box ensures FT4 will be logged as a mode in Station Log. FT4 must be listed in the Modes module; you'll be prompted to add it *one time* if it is not.

In the **Write Submodes To** list box, specify the text box on the **Station Log** window where the *submode* of each qualifying JT log entry will appear, for informational purposes, whether it was logged as a mode. You can choose:

- None
- Comments Box 1
- Comments Box 2
- UDF Text Box 1
- UDF Text Box 2
- UDF Text Box 3
- UDF Text Box 4
- UDF Text Box 5
- UDF Text Box 6
- UDF Text Box 7
- UDF Text Box 8

Worked-Before Management

The WSJT-X and JTDX **worked-before** features have the benefit of displaying workedbefore status indications *natively*, letting you *keep your eyes glued* to the WSJT-X or JTDX interface while operating — which we consider important, especially when using *quick* modes like FT8 and FT4.

As such, our approach to **JT Log Entry Processing** is unique; whereby **DXtreme Station Log 15** manages the *prepopulation* of WSJT-X and JTDX log files *and* the *addition* of comprehensive log entries, while WSJT-X and JTDX *display worked-before status indications* as you operate. No other software is required. Because JS8Call specializes in real-time conversational keyboard-to-keyboard QSOs, store-and-forward messaging, plus automatic and manual station queries and replies, the concept of **worked-before** status (whereby operators are discouraged from making more than one contact per band and mode) **does not apply**. Therefore, prepopulation of its log file is neither required nor provided.

Refer to the **Procedural Help** system for more information.

Setting Initial DX Spot Checker Options

On the **Tools** menu of the **Station Log** window, click **DX Spot Checker**.

Then, on the **Tools** menu of the **DX Spot Checker**, click **Options**.

Server and Spots

Click the Server and Spots tab.

DX Spot Checker Options			x
File Edit Links Help			
File Edit Links Help Omni-Rig Mode Definitions HRD Mode Definition Server and Spots Additional Commands Alert Sol Connection Network Address O Site 1: dxusa.net O Site 2: dxc.ve7cc.net O Site 3: www.ve9sc.com Image: Site 4: usdx.w1nr.net Image: O Site 5: dxc.nc7j.com Font Settings for Display of Non-LoTW Spots Font: Courier New Color: Black Size: 9 Font Settings for Display of LoTW Spots Font: Color: Green Size:	ns Services M unds and Message Port 7300 sh/c 23 sh/c 6300 sh/c 23 sh/	odes-Per-Band Plans s Message Formats Standard Command dx dx	OK Cancel Apply
Keep Alives Spot	Recall Format –	escending	

Save and exit.

Type the network addresses and port numbers of each **Site** you want to access.

For your convenience, a link to an on-line DX Packet Cluster telnet list is present (by default) in the **Links** menu.

Links	Help
A	AR-Cluster User Commands
C	CC Cluster Commands
0	XSpider User Manual
۵	X Packet Cluster List
A	Announced DX Operations
C	Contest Calendar
L	.oTW
L	oTW Queue
٧	/HF
C	QRZ.COM
P	SK Reporter
6	0-Meter Practices

Important: Using servers that display rapid-fire, Skimmer-type spots can overwhelm the **DX Spot Checker**. Use them at your own risk.

When you're finished defining sites, click the **Site** option button of the preferred server, the server to connect to when you click the traffic light on the **DX Spot Checker** toolbar.

As an alternative, the traffic light on the **DX Spot Checker** toolbar has a menu that lets you switch sites without opening the **DX Spot Checker Options** window.



Note: Keep in mind, however, that you cannot switch back-and-forth quickly between sites. Each site requires a few minutes to process disconnections.

Additional Commands

Click the Additional Commands tab.

ker Options							
inks Help							
Mode Definitions I Spots Additional Co	HRD Mode Definitio	ons Ser ounds and	vices Modes- Messages M	Per-Band Plans Message Forma	ts		ок
Additional Commands for the Commands Menu and Command Buttons							Cance
Band		Gro	up 2: Misc				Apply
Comn	nand S	end F.	Кеу	Comman	d	Send	
sh/dx on 160M	20 by_zone 4,5	Shif	t+F2: sh/dx	<call></call>			
sh/dx on 80M 2	0 by_zone 4,5	Shift	t+F3: sh/dx	<prefix></prefix>			
: sh/dx on 60M 2	0 by_zone 4,5	Shif	t+F4: sh/dx	info FT4 20 b	y_zone 4,5		
sh/dx on 40M 2	0 by_zone 4,5	Shif	t+F5: sh/dx	info FT8 20 b	y_zone 4,5	v	
sh/dx on 30M 2	0 by_zone 4,5	🔽 Shif	t+F6: sh/dx	info JS8 20 b	y_zone 4,5		
sh/dx on 20M 2	0 by_zone 4,5	🔽 Shif	t+F7: sh/dx	ZS6JSI 20 by	_zone 4,5	•	
sh/dx on 17M 2	0 by_zone 4,5	Shif	t+F8: sh/dx	OJOMR 20 by	_zone 4,5	~	
sh/dx on 15M 5	0 by_zone 4,5	🔽 Shif	t+F9: sh/dx	5H1IP 20 by	zone 4,5		
sh/dx on 12M 2	0 by_zone 4,5	Shift	+F11: sh/dx	on 6M 20 by	_zone 4,5	V	
sh/dx on 10M 2	0 by zone 4,5	Shift	+F12: sh/dx	on 2M 20 by	zone 4,5	~	
			,				
							Ц
	ker Options inks Help Mode Definitions i Spots Additional Co I Commands for t Band Comm Band Comm Band Comm Sh/dx on 160M Sh/dx on 160M Sh/dx on 80M 2 Sh/dx on 60M 2 Sh/dx on 60M 2 Sh/dx on 30M 2 Sh/dx on 30M 2 Sh/dx on 10M 2 Sh/dx on 12M 2 Sh/dx on 10M 2	ker Options inks Help Mode Definitions HRD Mode Definition Spots Additional Commands Alert Sc I Commands for the Commands M Iter Sc I Commands for the Commands M Spots Band Command Spots Sh/dx on 160M 20 by_zone 4,5 Sh/dx on 80M 20 by_zone 4,5 Sh/dx on 60M 20 by_zone 4,5 Sh/dx on 30M 20 by_zone 4,5 Sh/dx on 10M 20 by_zone 4,5 Sh/dx on 17M 20 by_zone 4,5 Sh/dx on 15M 50 by_zone 4,5 Sh/dx on 12M 20 by_zone 4,5 Sh/dx on 10M 20 by_zone 4,5 Sh/dx on 10M 20 by_zone 4,5	ker Options inks Help Mode Definitions HRD Mode Definitions Ser Spots Additional Commands Alert Sounds and I Commands for the Commands Menu and I Commands for the Commands Menu and : Band Gro : Sh/dx on 160M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift : sh/dx on 30M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift : sh/dx on 60M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift : sh/dx on 30M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift : sh/dx on 30M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift : sh/dx on 17M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift : sh/dx on 17M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift : sh/dx on 15M 50 by_zone 4,5 Shift : sh/dx on 12M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift : sh/dx on 10M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift	ker Options inks Help Mode Definitions HRD Mode Definitions Services Modes- Spots Additional Commands Alert Sounds and Messages M I Commands for the Commands Menu and Command B Group 2: Misc Band Group 2: Misc is Band Send F. Key is sh/dx on 160M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F2: sh/dx is sh/dx on 60M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F4: sh/dx is sh/dx on 60M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F5: sh/dx is sh/dx on 60M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F6: sh/dx is sh/dx on 30M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F6: sh/dx is sh/dx on 10M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F7: sh/dx is sh/dx on 17M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F8: sh/dx is sh/dx on 15M 50 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F11: sh/dx is sh/dx on 12M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F11: sh/dx is sh/dx on 10M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F11: sh/dx	ker Options inks Help Mode Definitions HRD Mode Definitions Services Modes-Per-Band Plans Spots Additional Commands Alert Sounds and Messages Message Forma I Commands for the Commands Menu and Command Buttons I I i: Band Group 2: Misc Command Send F. Key Comman i: Sh/dx on 160M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F2: sh/dx <call> i: sh/dx on 60M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F3: sh/dx <cprefix> i: sh/dx on 60M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F4: sh/dx info FT4 20 b i: sh/dx on 30M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F6: sh/dx info JS8 20 b i: sh/dx on 17M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F7: sh/dx 256JSI 20 by i: sh/dx on 17M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F8: sh/dx OJOMR 20 by i: sh/dx on 15M 50 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F9: sh/dx on 6M 20 by i: sh/dx on 12M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F11: sh/dx on 6M 20 by i: sh/dx on 12M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F11: sh/dx on 6M 20 by i: sh/dx on 12M 20 by_zone 4,5<</cprefix></call>	ker Options inks Help Mode Definitions HRD Mode Definitions Services Modes-Per-Band Plans Spots Additional Commands Alert Sounds and Messages Message Formats I Commands for the Commands Menu and Command Buttons : Band Group 2: Misc : Band Group 2: Misc : Sh/dx on 160M 20 by_zone 4,5 ▼ Shift+F2: sh/dx <call> : sh/dx on 80M 20 by_zone 4,5 ▼ Shift+F3: sh/dx <cprefix> : sh/dx on 60M 20 by_zone 4,5 ▼ Shift+F4: sh/dx info FT4 20 by_zone 4,5 : sh/dx on 40M 20 by_zone 4,5 ▼ Shift+F5: sh/dx info FT8 20 by_zone 4,5 : sh/dx on 30M 20 by_zone 4,5 ▼ Shift+F6: sh/dx info JS8 20 by_zone 4,5 : sh/dx on 20M 20 by_zone 4,5 ▼ Shift+F7: sh/dx ZS6JSI 20 by_zone 4,5 : sh/dx on 17M 20 by_zone 4,5 ▼ Shift+F8: sh/dx OJOMR 20 by_zone 4,5 : sh/dx on 15M 50 by_zone 4,5 ▼ Shift+F9: sh/dx SHIIP 20 by_zone 4,5 : sh/dx on 12M 20 by_zone 4,5 ▼ Shift+F11: sh/dx on 6M 20 by_zone 4,5 :</cprefix></call>	ker Options inks Help Mode Definitions HRD Mode Definitions Services Modes-Per-Band Plans Spots Additional Commands Alert Sounds and Messages Message Formats I Commands for the Commands Menu and Command Buttons : Band Group 2: Misc Command Send F. Key Command Send : Sh/dx on 160M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F2: sh/dx <call> Image: Sh/dx on 80M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F3: sh/dx <cprefix> : sh/dx on 60M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F4: sh/dx info FT4 20 by_zone 4,5 Image: Sh/dx info JS8 20 by_zone 4,5 Image: Sh/dx on 20M 20 by_zone 4,5 Shift+F6: sh/dx info JS8 20 by_zone 4,5 Image: Sh/dx on 20M 20 by_zone 4,5 Image: Sh/dx on 20M 20 by_zone 4,5 Image: Sh/dx on 20M 20 by_zone 4,5 Image: Sh/dx on 12M 20 by_zone 4,5 Image: Sh/dx on 20M 20 by_zone 4,5 Image: Sh/dx on 12M 20 by_zone 4,5 Image: Sh/dx on 12M 20 by_zone 4,5 Image: Sh/dx on 20M 20 by_zone 4,5 Image: Sh/dx on 12M 20 by_zone 4,5 Image: Sh/dx on 20M 20 by_zone 4,5 Image: Sh/dx on 20M 20 by_zone 4,5 Image: Sh/dx on 12M 20 by_zone 4,5 Image: Sh/d</cprefix></call>

Define the commands you want to invoke **when you**:

 Click the corresponding command buttons on the right side of the Rich Site Feed on the DX Spot Checker window.

Band	Ct Sh	- Misc
sh/dx on 160M 20 by_zone 4,5	F2	sh/dx <call></call>
sh/dx on 80M 20 by_zone 4,5	F3	sh/dx <prefix></prefix>
sh/dx on 60M 20 by_zone 4,5	F4	sh/dx info FT4 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx on 40M 20 by_zone 4,5	F5	sh/dx info FT8 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx on 30M 20 by_zone 4,5	F6	sh/dx info JS8 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx on 20M 20 by_zone 4,5	F7	sh/dx ZS6JSI 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx on 17M 20 by_zone 4,5	F8	sh/dx OJ0MR 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx on 15M 50 by_zone 4,5	F9	sh/dx 5H1IP 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx on 12M 20 by_zone 4,5	F11	sh/dx on 6M 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx on 10M 20 by_zone 4,5	F12	sh/dx on 2M 20 by_zone 4,5
• Or click the corresponding menu items on the **DX Spot Checker** toolbar.

🖣 🔽 🗶 🔌 🔆 🐥 🖓 📖 🗮 🖉 🙆
sh/dx on 160M 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx on 80M 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx on 60M 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx on 40M 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx on 30M 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx on 20M 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx on 17M 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx on 15M 50 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx on 12M 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx on 10M 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx <call></call>
sh/dx <prefix></prefix>
sh/dx info FT4 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx info FT8 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx info JS8 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx ZS6JSI 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx OJ0MR 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx 5H1IP 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx on 6M 20 by_zone 4,5
sh/dx on 2M 20 by_zone 4,5

• Or press the corresponding function key combinations on your keyboard.



If the **Send** check box is selected for a command in **DX Spot Checker Options**, the **DX Spot Checker** sends the command to the server immediately.

Otherwise, a template of the command appears in the **Send Command** box on the **DX Spot Checker** window for editing. Overwrite the <placeholder> with desired information and press *Enter* on your keyboard to send the command.





You can also right-click a button on the **DX Spot Checker** window and click **Define** ...

... to access and perhaps change its definition on the Additional Commands tab in DX Spot Checker Options:



For your convenience, links to on-line documentation for AR-Cluster, CC Cluster, and DXSpider servers are present (by default) in the **Links** menu.



Services

In addition to the server-side filters provided by the operators of DX Cluster and DX Spider servers, **DX Spot Checker Services** let you filter your spots on the client side so you see only the spots you're interested in. Using such filters and services can prevent the **DX Spot Checker** from becoming swamped with spots, especially during contests.

Click the **Services** tab and then the **Help** buttons to explore and implement the services that interest you most.

X Spot Checker Options	x
ile Edit Links Help	
File Edit Links Help Server and Spots Additional Commands Alert Sounds and Messages Message Formats Omni-Rig Mode Definitions HRD Mode Definitions Services Modes-Per-Band Plans VUCC Status Checking	OK Cancel Apply S
Alphanumeric Data: Log Spotted Station	
	_

Save and exit.

Mode-Per-Band Plans

If you select **Suppress DXCC Announcements by Mode Per Band** in the **Spot Display Filtering** area of the **Services** tab, click the **Modes-Per-Band Plans** tab.

DX Spot Checker Options					×
File Edit Links Help					
Server and Spots Additional Omni-Rig Mode Definitions	Commands Alert So RD Mode Definitions	ounds and Messages Services Modes-P	Message Forma er-Band Plans	ts	ОК
Modes-Per-Band Plans Suppress DXCC An	nouncements by Mod	e Per Band is ACTIVAT	ED on the Service	s tab	
Band: 20		Mode	Frequen Low	cy Range High	Apply
CONTESTI	Subband <u>1</u> :	CW	14000	14070	
CW DOMINO FSK441	Subband <u>2</u> :	PSK31	14070	14072	
FT4	Subband <u>3</u> :	PSK63	14072	14074	
HELL ISCAT	Subband <u>4</u> :	FT8	14074	14076	
JS8 JT65	Subband <u>5</u> :	JT65	14076	14078	
JT6M JT9	Subband <u>6</u> :	9ТС	14078	14080	
MFSK16 MSK144	Subband <u>Z</u> :	RTTY	14080	14150	
None ¥	Subband <u>8</u> :	SSB	14150	14350	

Save and exit.

Define or refine your Modes-Per-Band Plans.

After you define your band plans with **Suppress DXCC Announcements by Mode Per Band** activated, you'll see only the spots you need for *mode-entities not worked* and *not verified* within each defined band-portion *with the understanding that you cannot overlap mode definitions across band-portions (in another words, you can define only one mode per band-portion).* Refer to the **DXtreme Station Log 15 Help** system for specific instructions.

Two Modes-Per-Band-Plan Files

Two predefined Modes-Per-Band Plans files come with DXtreme Station Log 15:

- One that contains CW and SSB mode definitions: DXSpotBandModeEntitySuppressionDefinitions.xml
- And another that contains a mixture of modes, as shown above: DXSpotBandModeEntitySuppressionDefinitionsMixture.xml

The CW and SSB version is selected by default. If you want to use the Mixture version:

- 1. With **DXtreme Station Log 15** closed, open File Explorer and navigate to c:\DXtremeStationLog15.
- 2. Rename:

DXSpotBandModeEntitySuppressionDefinitions.xml

to

DXSpotBandModeEntitySuppressionDefinitionsCwSsb.xml

3. And then rename:

DXSpotBandModeEntitySuppressionDefinitionsMixture.xml

to

DXSpotBandModeEntitySuppressionDefinitions.xml

4. Start DXtreme Station Log 15. If necessary, refine your Modes-Per-Band Plans.

Populating the Modules

When you populate modules, you're *ensuring* that data regarding DXCC entities, bands, prefixes, rigs, antennas, accessories, and so on *are uniform* throughout your **Station** Log 15 installation. *This activity is essential for maintaining the integrity of your data, especially when running reports.*

Access the following modules from the **Modules** menu of the **Station Log** window and perform the required tasks.

Entities Module

Make sure the **Entities** module is up-to-date with the latest DXCC[®] entities. When the ARRL makes changes to the DXCC Entities list, DXtreme Software posts an announcement at <u>https://www.dxtreme.com/dxccinfo.htm</u>.

Entities Module			x
Entity DataPrefix:FOQSL Image:Entity:Austral Is.Continent:OceaniaITU Zone:63CQ Zone:32Status:CurrentLatitude:-22.65014	fo0sev View ADIF#: 508 Order Worked: 278 QSO/QSL Data Contacts: 2 Verified2: Vea	Actions Plot In <u>D</u> X Atlas Add <u>Ham CAP - LP</u> De Ham CAP - SP Navigation <u>Prev</u> Ne <u>x</u> t	New 2
Longitud <u>e</u> : -152.8082	<u>v</u> ermeder yes	<u> </u>	
Mode Data Mode Status QSL Image CW Verified Image RTTY Verified Image	Add Band 20 Remove 15	Status QSL Image Verified Image Verified Image	Add Remove Cancel
Mode Status QSL In	Nage Band	Status QSL In	View lage

Add a record.

INS CAPS Records: 349

Important: Typically, you add new entities and change entity information when needed within the **Entity Data** area only. The system populates the **Mode Data** and **Band Data** areas automatically as you add and modify log entries. *The only exceptions are if you decide, during implementation, to enter existing DXCC and Band information manually and begin logging thereafter* (as explained in the *DXtreme Station Log 15 Installation Instructions*) and to specify favorite QSL Image files.

Caution: You must add to **Entities** any *deleted* DXCC entities you have worked in the past *before* importing ADIF files of old logging data or typing them manually. If you make prefix changes or add new entities, the next time you perform a **Prefix and Call Sign Cross-Reference Update** be sure to *Clear Exception Cache* and perform an *Interactive Update*. Refer to Prefix and Call Sign Cross-References for instructions.

Rigs, Antennas, Accessories, Power Modules

Access the following modules in the order presented and add the desired information. Then select the **Default** you want to appear when adding log entries. You can delete information that is not applicable *after you have set defaults by band in the* **Bands** *module (described next)*.

- **Rigs** Add your radios.
- Antennas Add your antennas.
- Accessories Add your accessories.
- **Power** Add the power levels you run.

Rigs Module			×
Rig	Description	Status	Sort By
IC-7000	Icom IC-7000 Transceiver	Inactive	<u> Rig</u>
IC-706MKII	Icom IC-706MKIIG Transceiver	Inactive	© Description
IC-745	Icom IC-745 Transceiver	Inactive	
IC-746	Icom IC-746 Transceiver	Inactive	Add New
IC-746PRO	Icom IC-746PRO	Inactive	Delete
IC-756Pro2	Icom IC-756Prol1 Transceiver	Inactive	
IC-7700	Icom IC-7700 Transceiver	Default	Cancel 👩
IC-9700	Icom IC-9700 Transceiver	Active	· =
Rig:			S <u>t</u> atus:
IC-9700			Active 💌
Description:			
Icom IC-9700 Tra	ansceiver		
Add a record.			INS CAPS

ntenna	Description			Status	Sort By	
-EL 2/70	2-M 70-cm A27010S	5-El Yagi		Inactive	💿 <u>A</u> ntenna	
iSquare	20-Meter BiSquare	-		Inactive	C Description	
xtDipole	17-M Extended Dip	ole		Active	-	
nv-L-160	160-Meter Inverted	-L		Active	- OK	
nv-L-80	80-Meter Inverted-I	L		Inactive	Delete	
nv-LL-160	160-Meter Linear-Lo	oaded Inverted-L		Inactive	Delete	
oop-15-10	15,12,10-Meter Full	-Wave Loop		Inactive	Cancel	
oop-20	20-Meter Full-Wave	e Loop		Inactive	▼	
it <u>e</u> nna:					Sta <u>t</u> us:	
DM EDZ					Active	
accription:					,	
o-Meter Extende d the new recor	ed Double Zepp rd.				INS	<u>с</u>
d the new record	ed Double Zepp				INS	ГC
D-Meter Extended d the new record ver Module	ed Double Zepp rd. Description	Status	N/A		Sort By © Power	[C
D-Meter Extended d the new reconver Module	ed Double Zepp rd. Description 40 Watts	Status Active	N/A		Sort By © Power © Description	
D-Meter Extended d the new reconver Module	ed Double Zepp rd. Description 40 Watts 45 Watts	Status Active Active	N/A		Sort By © Power © Description	[C
o-Meter Extended d the new reconver Module	ed Double Zepp rd.	Status Active Active Active	N/A		Sort By Power Description OK	[c
over Module	ed Double Zepp rd. Description 40 Watts 45 Watts 50 Watts 70 Watts 75 Watts	Status Active Active Active Active Active	N/A		Sort By Power Description OK	[C
o-Meter Extended d the new record wer Module bower 0 5 0 5 0 5 0	ed Double Zepp rd. Description 40 Watts 45 Watts 50 Watts 70 Watts 75 Watts 80 Watts	Status Active Active Active Active Active Active	N/A		Sort By Power Description OK Delete	
O-Meter Extended Id the new record wer Module Power 10 15 10 15 10 10 15 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10	ed Double Zepp rd. Description 40 Watts 45 Watts 50 Watts 70 Watts 75 Watts 80 Watts 100 Watts	Status Active Active Active Active Active Active Active Active	N/A		INS Sort By Description OK Delete Carcel	
D-Meter Extended d the new record wer Module ower 0 5 0 0 5 0 0 5 0 0 5 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0	ed Double Zepp rd. Description 40 Watts 45 Watts 50 Watts 70 Watts 75 Watts 80 Watts 100 Watts 125 Watts	Status Active Active Active Active Active Active Active Active Active	N/A		INS Sort By Power Description OK Delete Cancel	
D-Meter Extended d the new record wer Module ower 0 5 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 25	ed Double Zepp rd.	Status Active Active Active Active Active Active Active Active Active	N/A		INS	
o-Meter Extended d the new reconver Module	ed Double Zepp rd. Description 40 Watts 45 Watts 50 Watts 70 Watts 75 Watts 80 Watts 100 Watts 125 Watts	StatusActiveActiveActiveActiveActiveActiveActiveActiveActiveActive	N/A		■ Sort By © Power © Description OK Delete Cancel Status: Active	
D-Meter Extended d the new record wer Module ower 0 5 0 0 5 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 5 0 0 0 0 5 0	ed Double Zepp rd. 40 Watts 45 Watts 50 Watts 70 Watts 75 Watts 80 Watts 100 Watts 125 Watts	Status Active Active Active Active Active Active Active Active	N/A		Sort By Power Description OK Delete Cancel Status: Active	

Note: When a window shows an unneeded column (like the one labeled N/A), you can change column widths to hide the column for aesthetic purposes and to provide more room for data. The software saves column width changes when you close the window.

Power Module			X
Power	Description	Status	Sort By
40	40 Watts	Active	• Power
45	45 Watts	Active	O Description
50	50 Watts	Active	[
70	70 Watts	Active	Add New
75	75 Watts	Active	Delete -
80	80 Watts	Active	
100	100 Watts	Active	Cancel
125	125 Watts	Active	
Power:			S <u>t</u> atus:
			Active
Description:			
Add a record			
Adu a record.			INS CAPS

Bands Module

Make sure the **Bands** module contains the bands on which you operate. And, for each band, the desired rig, antenna, accessory, and power defaults. When you import, or add log entries for a band, **DXtreme Station Log 15** selects the rig, antenna, accessory, and power level automatically. You can change them, of course.

Bands Module					x
Band Data					
Amateur <u>B</u> a	nd: 160	S <u>h</u> ortcut:	1.8	Navigation Prev	Actions
Ranging Fr <u>o</u>	m: 1800	<u></u> o:	2000	Next	Delete
QSL I <u>m</u> a	ge: walz	zpsk160	View		
Default NE:	1I Shack I	Details for 160-		First	Cancel
Rig: IC-7700 ▼ Agc: A811M976 ▼ Last			۲		
Ant: Inv-L	-160	▼ <u>Pwr</u> : 3	00 -	Find	
			_		
Mode Data					
Mode	Contacts	QSL Image	Mode:		Actions
CW	1289	yw0dx			<u>A</u> dd
FT8	80		Contacts:		
JT65	5				Remove
РКТ	1		QSL:		Close
PSK31	1	wa1zpsk160		View	Close
SSB	1545	d4b_160	_		
TOR	1		-		
Displays the p	ext record	4		INS C	APS Records: 13

Important: Typically, you add new bands and set defaults within the **Band Data** area only. The system populates the **Mode Data** area automatically as you add and modify log entries. *The only exceptions are if you decide, during implementation, to enter existing DXCC and Band information manually and then begin logging thereafter* (as explained in the *DXtreme Station Log 15 Installation Instructions*) and to specify favorite QSL Image files.

After you have made your default rig, antenna, accessory, and power entries, you can, if desired, revisit the appropriate modules and delete the rigs, antennas, accessories, and power levels you don't want listed. **Station Log 15** will not let you, however, delete a rig, antenna, accessory, or power level being used elsewhere in the system. You can set such records to *Inactive* so they don't appear in list boxes throughout the system.

The **Shortcut** box lets you type the shortcut MHz number for each amateur band when adding, modifying, or finding records in your **Bands** table. If desired, you can type the shortcut designation in the **Freq** box on the **Station Log** window in lieu of a complete

frequency, and you can print the shortcut designation instead of the band on **Direct Print QSL Labels** by selecting the **Shortcut MHz Instead of Band on Direct Print Labels** check box on the **Outgoing QSLs** tab of **Preferences**.

Modes Module

Access the **Modes** module. Add or modify the desired information. Select the *Default* mode (in the **Status** field) you want to appear when adding log entries. Delete information that is not applicable.

Mode	Description	Status	Default Report	Sort By
CONTESTI	Contestia	Active	599	Mode
CW	Continuous Wave	Active	599	O Description
DOMINO	DominoEx	Active	599	
FSK441	Frequency Shift Keying 441	Active	26	Add New
FT4	Franke-Taylor 4-GFSK	Active	-	Delete
FT8	Franke-Taylor 8-FSK	Active	-	
HELL	Hellschreiber	Active	599	Cancel
ISCAT	Ionospheric Scatter 42-FSK	Active	-10	· · · · · · ·
1 <u>o</u> de:				S <u>t</u> atus:
				Active
Description:				Default Report:

If desired, assign signal report defaults to your modes. When you do, the **Sent** and **Rcvd** boxes on the **Station Log** window display a mode-specific default when the mode is selected *while adding a log entry*.

When only one report character is assigned to a mode, the cursor appears at the end of that character when tabbing to the **Sent** and **Rcvd** boxes on the **Station Log** window:

Frequency, Band, and Mode Freq: 14081 Mode: FT4	kHz Franke-Tay	Meter Band 20 /lor 4-GFSK	Wavelength 21.31
Signal Quality, Propagation, an Sent: - Prop: F2 File: jh1ifs57.wav	Audio Rovd: F2 Re	- flection	¢ ⁰ ≥

This action permits the quick appending of additional characters, as is probably the intent, and comes in handy for digital modes (like FT4) when a hyphen (-) is assigned as the report default and you simply want to type the db number, as shown here:

Frequency, Band, and Mode Freq: 14081 Mode: FT4	kHz Franke-Tay	Meter Band 20 rlor 4-GFSK	Wavelength 21.31
Signal Quality, Propagation, an Sent: -05 Prop: F2	nd Audio Rovd:	-10	
File: jh1ifs57.wav			₫ ≥

When more than one report character is assigned to a mode, the cursor selects the entire report for possible replacement:

Frequency, Band, and Mode Freq: 14033	Meter Band 20	Wavelength 21.38
Mode: CW 🔽	Continuous Wave	Keep?
Signal Quality, Propagation, and	Audio	
Sent: 599	Rcvd: 599	
Prop: F2		
File:		≥

Here the default report was replaced with 579 in the **Sent** box and retained in the **Rcvd** box:

Frequency, Band, and Mode Freq: 14033	Meter Band 20	Wavelength 21.38
Mode: CW 🗸 C	ontinuous Wave	Keep?
Signal Quality, Propagation, and A	Audio	
Sent: 579	Rcvd: 599	
Prop: F2	F2 Reflection	
File: St5pa.wav		≥

You can change the default mode entered on the **Station Log** window when adding or modifying log entries, of course.

IOTA Module

Important: You *must* perform an IOTA[™] update before you can use IOTA numbers in **DXtreme Station Log 15**.

ΙΟΤΑ	Description	▲ Sort By	
AF-001	3B6 Agalega Islands		
AF-002	FT*Z Amsterdam & St Paul Islands	© Description	
AF-003	ZD8 Ascension Island		
AF-004	EA8 Canary Islands	Add New	
AF-005	D4 Cape Verde – Leeward Islands	Delete	
AF-006	VQ9 Diego Garcia Island	Delete	Ŷ
AF-007	D6 Comoro Islands	Cancel	0
AF-008	FT*W Crozet Islands	▼	_
, I <u>O</u> TA:	Description:	Update	

While DXtreme Software does not have permission to distribute the Islands On The Air directory, when this topic was written the **IOTA** web site at <u>https://www.iota-world.org</u> had a PDF file you can download and reformat for update. Refer to <u>IOTA Reference</u> <u>Numbers and Descriptions</u> in this document for instructions.

Like other modules, you can add, modify, and delete IOTA reference numbers and descriptions on the **IOTA Module** window.

STOP! Backup Time!

If you configured Auto Backups in Preferences ...

Preferences		
Report Viewer LoTW Maps DX Atlas Contests Band Master Links Ham CAP JT Log Entry Processing User Database + UDF General Internet Solar Outgoing QSLs Auto QSL Imaging Audio Auto Backups	. [ок
□ Database Backup Paths (Specify Unique Paths for Each Database) □ Image: Constraint of the second secon		Cancel
Enable Path 2: C:\DXtremeStationLog15\Database Backup Depth: 3		
Important: After specifying database backup paths, click OK before changing databases.		
Audio Backup Paths Final Path 1: X:\Audio		
Enable Path 2: C:\Users\NE1I\OneDrive\StationLog\Audio		
Improv Imaging Backup Paths		
Enable Path 1: X. Improv] Enable Path 2: C:\DXtremeStationLog15\Improv		
QSL Imaging Backup Paths		
Enable Path 2: C:\DXtremeStationLog15\IncomingQSLs		
Save and exit.	IN	S CAPS

... close **Station Log 15** via **File** \rightarrow **Exit** to back up your database file to the folders specified *before using the software further*.

That way, if you make a mistake implementing **DXtreme Station Log 15** and want to start over, you can close **Station Log 15** via **File** \rightarrow **Exit Without Backing Up Database** or **File** \rightarrow **Exit Without Compacting Database and Backing Up Anything** and restore your backed-up database by copying the dxslme.mdb file from one of your backup locations to your current database location (usually c:\DXtremeStationLog15\Database). This action saves you from having to populate your module data all over again.

Adding Legacy Contacts

Adding existing log data is the most challenging part of using a new logging application. And there are four ways to add existing log data to **DXtreme Station Log 15**. You can:

- Enter existing DXCC and Band information manually into the Entities and Bands modules and begin logging thereafter, as explained in the DXtreme Station Log 15 Installation Instructions.
- Type-in your existing contacts. If you choose this method, be sure to select Show Retain Date Checkbox on the General tab in Preferences. When you do, a Retain check box appears under the Date field on the Station Log window, which enables you to persist a date over multiple log entries.

Note: Optional **DXtreme Interchange** can digitize your paper logbooks (or other non-ADIF sources) as quickly as possible using a combination of *essential data entry; dictation, type, and paste;* and *active-importation*. Read the <u>DXtreme</u> <u>Interchange Data Sheet</u> for more information.

- Import your existing contacts from ADIF files, as explained in the next section.
- Download and import contacts from the Logbook of the World (LoTW) Server if you're a user of LoTW. *Refer to the <u>Information Center</u> for instructions.*

Importing ADIF Files

The easiest approach is to use the **ADIF Import Utility** to import legacy log entries from a *valid* ADIF file, one that has been generated by your old logging program.

How the ADIF Import Utility Selects Entities for Log Entries Being Imported

DXtreme Software recommends that *QRZ XML Logbook Data* or *HamQTH.com* be obtained and activated while using the **ADIF Import Utility** because those call sign subscription services return the DXCC Entity Code for each station most often, thereby increasing the accuracy of entity selection and entity-needed status indications.

Here's how the utility finds the entity of each imported station:

- 1. When a DXCC Entity Code is present in the ADIF file for the station, the utility uses it to obtain the entity from the **Entities** module.
- 2. When a DXCC Entity Code is not present in the ADIF file for the station, the utility polls *QRZ XML Logbook Data* or *HamQTH.com* (if obtained by you and activated) for the entity code. If a code is returned, the utility uses it to obtain the entity from the **Entities** module.
- 3. If neither *QRZ XML Logbook Data* nor *HamQTH.com* are activated, or they fail to supply the needed entity code, the utility uses the standard prefix (if present) of the call sign to obtain the entity from the **Entities** module.
- 4. If the call sign has a non-standard (special) prefix, the utility uses the **Prefix** and **Call Sign Cross-Reference** modules to obtain the entity.

Note: DXtreme Software is not responsible for the accuracy of information supplied by a call sign subscription service or the Country.Dat file, which is used to update the **Prefix** and **Call Sign Cross-Reference** modules.

What to Do Before Importing a Previous Log

You must add to the Entities module any *deleted* DXCC entities you have worked in the past *before* importing ADIF files of old logging data. You must also ensure the Bands module lists all bands you've operated on, and you must select the desired defaults as explained in this message box, which you'll encounter when you start the ADIF Import Utility:

ADIF Impo	rt Processing	
ADIF Impo	Before you import, set the defaults you want in the following modules: 1) Bands (including rig, antenna, accessory, and power defaults per band) 2) QSL Type 3) QSL Via 4) Postage You will be prompted to select a writable folder into which a special database backup file will be placed prior to import. If the import fails, replace the affected database file with the file in the folder you select, pasting it into the current Database folder. Click Help for important information. Do you want to begin the ADIF Import now?	×
	Note: If you click Yes, DXtreme Station Log 15 will close the following windows: 1) Advanced Search 2) DX Spot Checker 3) DXCC Analytics 4) WAS Analytics 5) Lookups 6) Stations Report	
	Yes No Help	

If you've already set your defaults as explained in the **ADIF Import Processing** message box, you can click **Yes** to begin. If not, click **No**, set your defaults as explained, and restart the **ADIF Import Utility**.

Important — Be Sure to Do This!

After you click **Yes** on the **ADIF Import Processing** message box, you'll be prompted to create a *pre-import database backup file*. Make sure you select a writable backup folder into which the *pre-import database backup file* will be placed prior to import. *Desktop* is okay.



Keep in mind, however, if you select the same folder each time you import, the previous file will be overwritten (which may or may not be okay). If you want to retain prior backup files, select a different writable backup folder each time you import. It's up to you.

This *pre-import database backup file* is in addition to the *standard backup file* saved when closing **Station Log 15** *if you configured Automatic Backups in* **Preferences**.

If a problem occurs with the import — which happens sometimes — you can close Station Log 15 via File \rightarrow Exit Without Backing Up Database or File \rightarrow Exit Without Compacting Database and Backing Up Anything and restore by copying the *pre-import database backup file* or *standard backup file* (dxslme.mdb) file from the desired backup location to your current database location (c:\DXtremeStationLog15\Database) usually.

Correct the problem and then try again. This action protects your module data and previous log entries if something goes wrong during an import. And if you need our help with an import, sending us your backed-up database helps us help you.

How the Import Behaves

The import process is *interactive*. The interactive nature of the import process ensures the imported data will be compatible with the **Station Log 15** database schema. The import process *cannot be interrupted and resumed*. However, if your source ADIF file is separated into manageable, ADIF-compliant chunks — say one file for each year of operation — the import process can be more gradual and manageable.

If your ADIF file does not have DXCC tag numbers (which identify the DXCC entity of each imported log entry), you can select in the Validation Options area whether to Approve the entity selections the utility makes based on the standard and special prefixes in the system. Important: Employing this option will be very time-consuming! But if you clear the Approve check boxes, the utility makes logical entity selections without prompting you unless necessary. (Prompting for States and Provinces and CQ Zones can also be time-consuming.)

Important: Most users don't select the **Approve** and **Prompt** check boxes when importing an existing log. The accuracy of entity selections then depends on whether you're using *QRZ XML Logbook Data* or *HamQTH.com* **and** how well you've kept your **Entities, Prefix Cross-Reference**, and **Call Sign Cross-Reference** modules up-to-date. Refer to the <u>Entities Module</u> section for more information about keeping the **Entities** module up-to-date, and to the <u>Prefix and Call Sign Cross-References</u> section for more information about keeping those modules up-to-date.

As it imports each log entry, the **ADIF Import Utility** assigns the defaults specified in the maintenance modules of the system, including the rig, antenna, accessory, and power level per band. In addition, it applies the signal and propagation, solar, digital application, UDF, and QSL defaults you specified on the utility's window *when those values are not present in the ADIF being imported*.

The ADIF Import Utility has its own Help system. Refer to it when using the utility.



Checking DX Spots

On the **Tools** menu, click **DX Spot Checker**.

Logging On

Service Set Identifier

If you want to log on to the same cluster server on multiple devices at your site, select a unique Service Set Identifier (SSID) on each device prior to logging on. The SSID box is labeled with your call sign and a trailing hyphen, selecting a unique SSID prevents being forcibly logged off.

DX Spot Checker
File Edit Commands DX Atlas Links Tools Help SFI: 83 Ap: 5 Kp: 1 Updated: 20:30:35
🏽 🔻 ◀ 👻 🗸 💥 🔅 🕼 ☷ 🛃 🞯 Send Command:
NE1I-
V000.
Rich Site Feed Grid Feed
Connected to usdx.wlnr.net:23
login:
Yankee Clipper Contest Club spotting network
DXSpider Cluster WINR, Marlborough, MA
NEII-1
YCCC Packet Cluster Network

Ready ... Set ... Go

Click the traffic light to log on to the server selected in **DX Spot Checker Options**. As an alternative, click the down arrow next to the traffic light and then the server you want from the menu.



Note: You cannot switch back-and-forth quickly between sites.

Selecting the Feed

Choose the **Feed** option you want. Feel free to switch back and forth.

Rich Site Feed

The **Rich Site Feed** displays the continuous feed from the Telnet server. It also lets you interact with the server to set options like filters and to perform queries.

DX Spot Checker			
File Edit Commands DX Atlas Links Tools Help SFI: 77 Ap: 4 Kp: 1 U	pdated: 19:00:00		×
NE11- O Action: Show Ham CAP LP Call: 5B4AMM DXC	C: Cyprus	▼ Exec DX Ad or Hoc	DX Via the DX Via the SL Window SL Window Your Grid <prop>DX Grid</prop>
Bearing: 5B4AMM 55° (LP: 235°) VUC	C: 50135.0 W3SO FN00 1905Z New	F12 Display All S	Spots and DXCC Announcements
Rich Site Feed Grid Feed			
DX de WO2N: 21074.0 TA2VB Tnx FT8 QSO 73	1830Z ^	Band	Ct Sh Misc
Turkey: Need QSO for New Entity Modes:		sh/dx on 160M 20 by_zone 4,5	F2 sh/dx <call></call>
DX de WB7UZO: 50313.0 VE2DF0	1837Z		1
Modes: SSB:W		sh/dx on 80M 20 by_zone 4,5	F3 sh/dx <prefix></prefix>
DX de WA3LKT: 144202.0 WIXX FM19KG<>FN41 United States: Entity, Band-Entity Verified Modes: FMV, SSRV	1838Z	sh/dx on 60M 20 by_zone 4,5	F4 sh/dx info FT4 20 by_zone
DX de KP3W: 14047.3 K3ES POTA	1843Z		
United States: Entity, Band-Entity Verified Modes: FM:V_SSB:V	10/07	sh/dx on 40M 20 by_zone 4,5	F5 sh/dx info FT8 20 by_zone 4,5
Slovenia: Entity, Band-Entity Verified Modes: SSB:V	18432	sh/dx on 30M 20 by_zone 4,5	F6 sh/dx info JS8 20 by_zone
DX de HG6Y: 14027.4 VE2FK 76 Canada: Need QSL for Entity	1848Z		4,5
MOdes: SSBW DX de N1LID: 21075.6 CE7KF IOTA SA-018 Chile: Need OSO for New Entity	1851Z	sh/dx on 20M 20 by_zone 4,5	F7 sh/dx ZS6JSI 20 by_zone 4,5
Modes: DX de W30N: 18102.3 5B4AMM	1858Z	sh/dx on 17M 20 by_zone 4,5	F8 sh/dx OJ0MR 20 by_zone 4,5
Cyprus: Need QSL for Entity Modes: SSB1W			1
DX de N2RC: 144200.0 KR1ST USB United States: Entity, Band-Entity Verified	1900Z	sh/dx on 15M 50 by_zone 4,5	F9 sh/dx 5H1IP 20 by_zone 4,5
Modes: FM:V S8:V DX de W3S0: 50135.0 W3S0 USB United States: Entity. Band-Entity. Verified	1905Z	sh/dx on 12M 20 by_zone 4,5	F11 sh/dx on 6M 20 by_zone 4,5
Modes: FM:V SSB:V			1
DX de W30N: 18102.3 UT5ULB Ukraine: Entity, Band-Entity Verified	1906Z	sh/dx on 10M 20 by_zone 4,5	F12 sh/dx on 2M 20 by_zone 4,5
DX de PY4AZ: 21280.0 W1KA USB	1906Z	List Commands - Double-Click Here	to Define Commands
United States: Need QSO for New Band-Entity		13 Show 20-M Fox/H	ound Spots (DXS)
Modes: FM:V_SSB:V	~	sh/dx on 14090 info FT8 10 by_zo	ine 4,5
		Connected to usedy with	nr. pet: 23 Jul 18 2021 19:08:50

DX Query Command Buttons appear on the right side of the **DX Spot Checker** window when Rich Site Feed is selected. There's one button for each command defined on the **Additional Commands** tab of **DX Spot Checker Options**.

As shown earlier, right-clicking a button displays a shortcut menu, whereupon clicking **Define** brings you to the text box where you can define the command.

Thereafter, depending on the definition of a command, left-clicking a button sends its command to the server immediately, or inserts a DX announcement template into the **Send Command** box for editing before sending the announcement to the server by pressing *Enter* on your keyboard.

A **List Commands** box appears on the lower-right side of the window. It contains a list of pre-configured commands you can send to the cluster server immediately. By default,

DXtreme Station Log 15 ships with list commands that query the cluster server for recent FT8 Fox/Hound activity.

Simply click the desired list item:



Then the arrow button:

 List Commands - Double-Click Here to Define Commands 13 Show 20-M Fox/Hound Spots (DXS) 	
sh/dx on 14090 info FT8 10 by_zone 4,5	

And the results appear on the Rich Site Feed display.

DX Spot Checker	
File Edit Commands DX Atlas Links Tools Help S	FI: 83 Ap: 5 Kp: 1 Updated: 21:00:00
蓦 ▾ ◀ ▾ 🗸 'ኛ 🔆 ◁୬ ☷ 🛃 @ Send Command:	
NE1I- 1 Action: Tune to Frequency Call:	▼ <u>D</u> XCC:
	VUCC: 50110.0 VO1FOG GN37 2128Z Veri
Rich Site Feed Grid Feed	
sh/dx on 14090 info FT8 10 by zone 4,5	^
14090.0 KL7RRC 3-Jul-2021 0107Z F/H	TNX FT8 <noodk></noodk>
14090.0 VK9XX 9-Jun-2021 1242Z TNX	FT8 <noodk></noodk>
14090.0 VK9XX 9-Jun-2021 1238Z fh f	ft8 <kb8kb></kb8kb>
14090.0 VK9XX 4-Jun-2021 1213Z FT8	F/H CQ <wq3x></wq3x>
14090.0 VK9XX 4-Jun-2021 1207Z FT8	IOTA OC002 Christmas f/h <wb8k></wb8k>
14090.0 VK9XX 1-Jun-2021 0555Z FT8	F/H <aa5am></aa5am>
14090.0 VK9XX 31-May-2021 1340Z FT8	<w3yq></w3yq>
14090.0 VK9XX 31-May-2021 1302Z FT8	-09dB from OH29 295Hz <k0jgh></k0jgh>
14090.0 VK9XX 28-May-2021 1314Z FT8	<w9mdb></w9mdb>
14090.0 VK9XX 28-May-2021 1305Z ft8	f/h <k9us></k9us>
NE1I-1 de W1NR-9 7-Jul-2021 2124Z dxspider >	>

You can define, edit, and delete any list commands you want using the **Define List Commands Module** window, which is accessible by double-clicking **List Commands** — **Double-Click Here to Define Commands**:

- List Commands - Double-Click Here to 13 Show 20-M Fox/Hour sh/dx on 14090 info FT8 10 by_zone	Define Commands Id Spots (DXS)			*
			L - Sort By	
Command	Order Description	Status 🔺	C Command	
sh/dx on 3567 info FT8 10 by_zone 4,5	10 Show 80-M Fox/Hound Spots (DXS)	Active	Commanu Corder Description	
sh/dx on 7056 info FT8 10 by_zone 4,5	11 Show 40-M Fox/Hound Spots (DXS)	Active	<u>order Description</u>	
sh/dx on 10131 info FT8 10 by_zone 4,5	12 Show 30-M Fox/Hound Spots (DXS)	Active	Add North	
sh/dx on 14090 info FT8 10 by_zone 4,5	13 Show 20-M Fox/Hound Spots (DXS)	Active	Add <u>N</u> ew	
sh/dx on 18095 info FT8 10 by_zone 4,5	14 Show 17-M Fox/Hound Spots (DXS)	Active	Delete	
sh/dx on 21091 info FT8 10 by_zone 4,5	15 Show 15-M Fox/Hound Spots (DXS)	Active	Delete	<i></i>
sh/dx on 24911 info FT8 10 by_zone 4,5	16 Show 12-M Fox/Hound Spots (DXS)	Active	Cancel	0
sh/dx on 28091 info FT8 10 by_zone 4,5	17 Show 10-M Fox/Hound Spots (DXS)	Active 👻		_
C <u>o</u> mmand:			S <u>t</u> atus:	
sh/dx on 14090 info FT8 10 by_zone 4,	5		Active	-
Order Description:			,	
13 Show 20-M Fox/Hound Spots (DXS)				
Add, modify, delete a record; click the o	rid to select a record.		INS	CAPS

The numbers 10, 11, 12, and so on in the **Order Description** column sort the list in the desired order. Use numbers beginning with 10; avoid 0 through 9.

Grid Feed

The **Grid Feed** displays 10 to 50 rows (your choice) of DX spots in a structured, resizable, alternating-color grid.

- 4 -	1 7 vol-	ા 🤐 🖂 લોકે) etc. M Send	- api - repi -	opuut	Ed. 15.00.00			_
• • •	 √ %	😽 🍕	9 1:1: 🗹 🗹 Command:						
•	Action: Sh	ow Ham CA	PLP Call: 5B4AMM	▼ D	«cc: 🔽	Cyprus 💌 E <u>x</u>	ec DXAd DXViathe	DX Via the S	SL Windov
rina: 584	AMM 55° (I.P: 235°)		V	JCC: 5	50135.0 W3SO FN00 1905Z New 🔻 F1	12 Display All Spots and DXC	C Announcem	ents
1111g. 504		1							
ich Site F	eed Grid	Feed Ro	ows: 31 Status: 18102.3 5	B4AMM 18	582 Lo1	W: No Cyprus: Need QSL for Entity			
X de	Freq	Station	Remarks	UTC	LoTW	DXCC Status	Mode Status	Station	Source
N7BWT:	14076.2	N3RC		1821Z	Yes	United States: Entity, Band-Entity Verified	FM:V_SSB:V	N3RC	CSS 29
D1C:	50313.0	KA6BIM	FT8 DM79nx<>CN73	1822Z	No	United States: Entity, Band-Entity Verified	FM:V_SSB:V	KA6BIM	CSS 29
D1C:	50313.0	VA6AN	FT8 DM79nx<>DO42	1824Z	No	Canada: Need QSL for Entity	SSB:W	VA6AN	CSS 1
N7DY:	18100.0	K1VK	FT8 -20dB from FN42 2166Hz	1825Z	Yes	United States: Need QSO for New Band-Entity	FM:V_SSB:V	K1VK	CSS 29
/A3LKT:	144198.0	K1TEO	FM19KG<>FN31	1826Z	No	United States: Entity, Band-Entity Verified	FM:V_SSB:V	K1TEO	CSS 29
D1C:	50313.0	AL1VE	FT8 DM79nx<>DN02	1828Z	No	United States: Entity, Band-Entity Verified	FM:V_SSB:V	AL1VE	CSS 29
U4I:	144200.0	K3ZO	FM18	1828Z	No	United States: Entity, Band-Entity Verified	FM:V_SSB:V	K3ZO	CSS 29
/02N:	21074.0	TA2VB	Tnx FT8 QSO 73	1830Z	No	Turkey: Need QSO for New Entity		TA2VB	CSS 39
/B7UZO:	50313.0	VE2DFO		1837Z	No	Canada: Need QSL for Entity	SSB:W	VE2DFO	CSS 1
/A3LKT:	144202.0	W1XX	FM19KG<>FN41	1838Z	Yes	United States: Entity, Band-Entity Verified	FM:V_SSB:V	W1XX	CSS 29
P3W:	14047.3	K3ES	ΡΟΤΑ	1843Z	No	United States: Entity, Band-Entity Verified	FM:V_SSB:V	K3ES	CSS 29
/30N:	14074.8	S58AW		1843Z	No	Slovenia: Entity, Band-Entity Verified	SSB:V	S58AW	CSS 49
G6Y:	14027.4	VE2FK	76	1848Z	No	Canada: Need QSL for Entity	SSB:W	VE2FK	CSS 1
1LID:	21075.6	CE7KF	IOTA SA-018	1851Z	No	Chile: Need QSO for New Entity		CE7KF	CSS 11
/30N:	18102.3	5B4AMM		1858Z	No	Cyprus: Need QSL for Entity	SSB:W	5B4AMM	CSS 21
2RC:	144200.0	KR1ST	USB	1900Z	No	United States: Entity, Band-Entity Verified	FM:V_SSB:V	KR1ST	CSS 29
/350:	50135.0	W3SO	USB	19052	NO	United States: Entity, Band-Entity Verified	FM:V SSB:V	W3SO	CSS 29
/30N:	18102.3	UTSULB		19062	No	Ukraine: Entity, Band-Entity Verified	SSB:V	UTSULB	CSS 28
T4AZ:	21280.0	WIKA	USB	19062	NO	United States: Need QSU for New Band-Entity	FIMICV SSBCV	WIKA	CSS 29
/5UN:	18102.0	WP4RD5		19125	NO	Puerto Rico. Need QSO for New Entity		WP4RD5	C55 20
				_				_	
								_	
			1					-	
			1			1		_	1
			1						1
			1	1					1
			1			1			1
			1	1		1			1
	1	1	1	1		1	1		

The **DX Spot Checker** is packed with features, but the overall intent is to let you see the stations you need to work for a new DXCC entity — overall or on each mode and band. *Plus*, it lets you see the stations you need to work for a new VUCC grid (if you have a subscription to QRZ XML Logbook Data, HamQTH.com, or Buckmaster HamCall). It performs these tasks by querying your **Station Log 15** database to see what you need.

Important: For best results, DXtreme Software recommends obtaining and activating *QRZ XML Logbook Data* or *HamQTH.com* while using the **DX Spot Checker** because those call sign subscription services return the DXCC Entity Code for each station most often, thereby increasing the accuracy of DXCC status indications. If the entity number is not returned, the **DX Spot Checker** uses the Entities, Prefix Cross-Reference, and Call Sign Cross-Reference tables to determine entity-needed status. The **Source** column on the **Grid Feed** displays *CSS ###* when the call sign subscription service returns the DXCC Entity Code, and *Table* when the aforementioned tables were used. DXtreme Software is not responsible for the accuracy of information a call sign subscription service provides.

Adding and Modifying Log Entries

The focal point of **DXtreme Station Log 15** is the six-tab **Station Log** window. You can use it to add new log entries and modify existing ones — plus a whole lot more.

Adding Standard Log Entries

You can add new log entries by clicking **New** and typing, clicking, and selecting information on the **Station Log** window.

Logging Spotted Stations

You can also add new log entries by clicking **Log Spotted Station** or **Log Spotted Frequency and Station** on the **DX Spot Checker** shortcut menu, which inserts initial contact data from the spotted station into the fields of the **Station Log** window, whereupon you complete the log entry by typing, clicking, and selecting additional information.

Using JT Log Entry Processing

If you're a fan of WSJT-X, JTDX, or JS8Call, you can also add new log entries by clicking the **JTP** button and then the appropriate **New Log Entry** menu item, which inserts initial contact data from the application into the fields of the **Station Log** window, whereupon you complete the log entry by typing, clicking, and selecting additional information.

	New WSJT-X Log Entry
	New JTDX Log Entry
	New JS8Call Log Entry
	New Standard Log Entry
	Prepopulate WSJT-X Log File
	Prepopulate JTDX Log File
	Search WSJT-X All.Txt File
	Search WSJT-X Log File
	Search JTDX All.Txt File
-	Search JTDX Log File
	Search JS8Call All.Txt File
_	Search JS8Call Directed.Txt File
-	Search JS8Call Log File
	Procedural Help
	Field Help

As part of completing log entries, you can accept or change the default information provided by your module definitions. And you can record stations; add records to an Outgoing QSL Web Service, Club Log, or eQSL.cc workfile; post to social media; create QSL and address labels; and associate Improv and QSL images.

And you can have **Station Log 15** upload log entries to LoTW automatically.

Automatic Lorw oproad Progress Dar (Washua)	
Search by Quick Find, or tab to other controls to perform Station Log processing.	09/19/2016 13:13:24

Notes Regarding WSJT-X, JTDX, and JS8Call

- Only the most recent WSJT-X, JTDX, and JS8Call contacts can be logged using JT Log Entry Processing. If desired, you can start a log entry, begin a contact with another station, and finish logging the previous contact before the new QSO ends. For rapid-fire and contest operations, you might want to log in WSJT-X, JTDX, or JS8Call and use Station Log's Import ADIF Utility to import log entries after you've finished. The Station Log 15 Help System explains how.
- If you want to view or search an application's *All.Txt* or *Log* file, you can click the appropriate entry on the **JT Processing** menu. You might find these functions useful to search for decoded stations, entities, or grid squares without having to interrupt, or be interrupted by, new decodes on the application's window. JS8Call also has a *Directed.Txt* file you can view or search.

Modifying Log Entries

You can also *modify* log entries on the **Station Log** window, most often done when you receive a QSL card in the mail. Click the **Verification** tab to indicate the QSL card was received and, if you have an image scanner, scan a picture of the front and rear of the QSL for viewing later in **QSL Imaging**.

You can also upload your log entries to Logbook of the World semiautomatically in batches and import LoTW QSL records to mark *matched* contacts as verified in your database. You can also capture images of your LoTW QSLs for later viewing.

You can make other changes as well. It's all up to you.

Last Log Entries Grid and Window

Resizing the **Station Log** window turns on the **Last Log Entries** *grid*. And if you want to display more records at once, you can open a **Last Log Entries** *window* by means of a menu selection. The **Last Log Entries** *grid* and *window* show up to 5000 of the most recent log entries added.

Double-clicking a row in the grid displays its log entry in the **Station Log** window. You can resize the grid columns and scroll horizontally to columns that do not appear initially, and right-clicking the grid brings up a shortcut menu that lets you sort records and access other functions.

😵 DXtreme Station Log 15 (K0AWU) —	
File Edit Search Modules QSLing Audio Imaging Reports Maps Links Tools Help SFI: 80 Ap: 7 Kp: 1 (17:30:28)	
M • 🚯 • 🚍 • 🎄 • 📾 • 💁 • 📄 • 💘 🗏 🖉 🗠 🖂 🖂 🖂 🖓	New 🛅 🗙
Station Station Information Verification Comments User Defined Fields Improv Imaging Station Data Frequency, Band, and Mode Meter Band Call Sign: KOAWU B+Dx: 293* 1119.63 mil Freq: [144175 KHz 2 Mode: Fraguency, Band, and Mode Meter Band Freq: [144175 KHz 2 Mode: FT8 Franke-Taylor 8-FSK Mode: FT8 Franke-Taylor 8-FSK County: Itasca Grid: EN37 Signal Quality, Prof Date and Start Time (Descending) IOTA:	Wavelength 2.08
Date: 07/14/2021 Verified 2X1° Grid: EN37 NE1/ Radio Shack l Station (Ascending) NE1/ Radio Shack l Rig: IC-9700 Station (Descending) Date: 07/14/2021 Start: 17:36 Ant: 13-EL 2M Acc: Hu-350V/DX State and Entity State and Entity	<u>ि</u> वार् <u></u>
Solar Indices	
SFI: 72 Ap: 7 Kp: 3 Historic Pwr: 330 Grid and Entity IOTA and Entity IOTA and Entity	
Last 1000 Log Entries By Date and Start Time Descending	
07/14/2021 17:36 144175 FT8 330 K0AWU +06 -01 Un Properties	
07/14/2021 17:03 144175 FT8 330 KA9FOX -10 -02 Un 07/14/2021 17:01 144175 FT8 330 KM0T +12 -02 Un	
07/14/2021 16:58 144175 FT8 330 W0VC -13 -18 Un Open Last Log Entries Window	
07/14/2021 16:07 50314 FT8 100 KZ5A -12 -08 Un	— H I
07/14/2021 16:01 50314 FT8 125 WN6KHG -07 -05 United states	
07/14/2021 15:59 50314 FT8 125 N6MW -01 +01 United States 03 CM94wo CA	
Automatic LoTW Upload Progress Bar (Nashua)	
Perform Station Log processing. 07/19/202	1 21:20:43

Las	t Log Entries	and	Application-V	Vid	e Gr	id and Quick	Find Fon	t Prope	rties		×
Т	Last Log Er	ntrie	s Properties-			- Application	Wide G	rid and	Quick Find Font Propertie	s	
	Column	1: [Date	•		Frame For Font: Cali	nt Attribi ^{bri}	utes —	Bold: False		ОК
	Column	2:	Start	•		Size: 9.75			Italics: True		Cancel
	Column	3:	Freq	•		Font	Fore C	olor	Fore Color		
	Column	4:	Mode	•		Grid Head	ing and	Quick I	Find Font Attributes	-	
	Column	5:	Power	•		Font: Cali	bri		Bold: True		
	Column	6:	Station	•		Size: 9	East O		Italics: True		
	Column	7:	Sent	•		Font	Fore C		Fore and Back Colors		
	Column	8: [Rcvd	•			Back C	olor			
	Column 9: Entity 💌				Grid Data						
	Column 1	0: [CQ	•		Font: Cali	bri		Bold: False		
	Column 1	1:	Grid	•		Size: 9	- Odd Row	s ———	Italics: False		
	Column 1	2:	S/P	•		Font	Fore C	olor	Fore Color		
	Column 1	3:	ΙΟΤΑ	•			Back C	olor [Back Color		
			<u>M</u> ax#:				Fore and	Back Co	Fore and Back Colors		
	Border?	•	5000	•			i ore and	Daux Ou			
		_	400	^							
		_	750								
Se	lect the max	xim	1000		g e	ntries to sho	w.				
6:02	50314	FT8	2000 K3		THI		+19	+12	United States	04	EM69hn
6:01	50314	FT8	4000		кно	3	-07	-05	United States	04	EN65ec
5:59	50314	FT8	5000	\mathbf{v}	W		-01	+01	United States	03	CM94wo

A **Properties** dialog box can be invoked via the shortcut menu ...

... enabling you to:

- Change the order of columns. (If you change the order, you may need to resize your grid columns.)
- Set the maximum number of last log entries displayed (from 7 to 5000).
- Add or remove a border.
- Set font attributes for the grid's frame plus heading and data rows one format for odd data rows, and another format for even data rows *throughout the program*, not just for the Last Log Entries grid, but all grids in the system, plus the Quick Find box.

And even though you can scroll the **Last Log Entries** *grid* vertically and horizontally, sometimes you need more room to display all columns and their data. To say nothing of displaying additional rows. For time like those, you can open the resizable **Last Log Entries** *window:*

ate	Entries By Start	Date and	Start I	ime De	scending ——							
7/14/2021 7/14/2021	Start		A day day		Constant	C	Dent	Provide a	00	0.11	0.10	1071
7/14/2021	47.00	Freq	Noae	Power	Station	Sem	ксча	Entity	<i>cq</i>	Gria	5/P	ΙΟΙΑ
//14/2021	17:36	144175	F18	330	KUAWU	+06	-01	United States	04	EN37	MN	
	17:03	144175	FT8	330	KA9FOX	-10	-02	United States	04	EN43	WI	
7/14/2021	17:01	144175	FT8	330	кмот	+12	-02	United States	04	EN13	IA	
7/14/2021	16:58	144175	FT8	330	WOVC	-13	-18	United States	04	EN34	MN	
7/14/2021	16:07	50314	FT8	100	KZ5A	-12	-08	United States	04	DM73en	NM	
7/14/2021	16:02	50314	FT8	100	WA9THI	+19	+12	United States	04	EM69hn	IN	
7/14/2021	16:01	50314	FT8	125	WN6KHG	-07	-05	United States	04	EN65ec	WI	
7/14/2021	15:59	50314	FT8	125	N6MW	-01	+01	United States	03	CM94wo	CA	
7/14/2021	15:54	50314	FT8	100	NOKV	+14	+06	United States	04	DM79qm	CO	
7/14/2021	15:46	50314	FT8	80	W8DOL	+13	-01	United States	05	FM19am	WV	
7/12/2021	21:51	14082	FT4	150	OD5ZZ	-09	-16	Lebanon	20	KM74wk		
7/11/2021	14:37	50314	FT8	100	NOAN	+02	-05	United States	04	EN22xc	IA	
7/08/2021	16:41	50315	FT8	80	WB5JJJ	+02	-11	United States	04	EM35kg	AR	
7/07/2021	17:17	50314	FT8	100	KE7NR/P	+02	-09	United States	05	DM54ah	AZ	
7/07/2021	17:10	50314	FT8	100	KY7M	+02	-13	United States	03	DM33	AZ	
7/02/2021	21:39	28075	FT8	125	5T5PA	+05	-11	Mauritania	35	IL10Iw		
6/26/2021	16:34	18101	FT8	100	PJ2MAN	+04	-06	Curacao	09	FK52nd		
6/25/2021	12:58	14081	FT4	100	HI8DAR	+08	-11	Dominican Republic	08	FK58dk		NA-096
6/25/2021	12:54	14081	FT4	100	CE1PTT	-03	-08	Chile	12	FH41um		
6/24/2021	11:57	14081	FT4	100	JH1IFS	+14	-04	Japan	25	PM96xr		AS-007
6/24/2021	11:56	14081	FT4	100	JAOFVU	+02	-13	Japan	25	PM97mw		
6/18/2021	17:53	50314	FT8	100	W4QBA	-14	-18	United States	05	EM74	GA	
6/18/2021	17:52	50314	FT8	100	N4EME	-16	-18	United States	05	FN57	ME	
6/18/2021	12:06	14075	FT8	100	5Z4VJ	-02	-12	Kenya	37	KI88		
6/15/2021	15:38	50314	FT8	100	KZ4KX	+22	+06	United States	04	EM66	KY	
6/14/2021	12:25	14081	FT4	100	LX1GQ	-14	-01	Luxembourg	14	JN39		
6/04/2021	21:09	50324	FT8	125	ON6AB	-01	-19	Belgium	14	J021ec		
6/04/2021	21:07	50324	FT8	125	G4NBS	-02	-19	England	14	JO02af		
6/03/2021	23.17	14082	FT4	100	ON4KBU	-10	-09	Belgium	14	1020Iw		
6/03/2021	23:14	14081	FT4	150	HZ1WED	-06	-18	Saudi Arabia	21	LL34ir		
6/01/2021	12:47	14081	FT4	150	JM1GHT	+02	-11	Japan	25	PM95pp		AS-007
6/01/2021	12:46	14081	FT4	150	JA1WSK	+10	-03	Japan	25	PM95tl		
6/01/2021	12:45	14081	FT4	100	IA2ATE	+01	-19	lapan	25	PM85ib		AS-007
5/31/2021	12:33	14081	FT4	100	ΙΔ7ΔΚW	-01	-15	lanan	25	OM08ha		
5/30/2021	17:07	21075	FT8	80	NP4TX	-12	-13	Puerto Rico	08	EK68ub		NA-099
5/29/2021	19-15	21075	FTR	100	CLISAD	-10	-12	Azores	14	HM58um		EU-175
5/28/2021	22:45	21075	FTR	100	CE2SV	+05	-11	Chile	12	FF47fa		20-175
5/28/2021	22.40	21075	FT9	100	HD1DV	-06	-10	Danama	07	El00ga		
5/20/2021	22.34	21075	CT0	200	EATD	102	11	Pania	14	IM76pc		
5/20/2021	22.20	210/5	F 10	100	VV/7DMC	-04	-11	Venezuela	14	EVO155		
5/20/2021	20.45	210/5	F18	100	IV/PIVIG	-04	-11	venezuela Re lucia	09	LK0100		NIA 400

The **Last Log Entries** *window* has **all** the functions of the **Last Log Entries** *grid*, but it can be set wider and longer. You can display the *grid* and *window* together, or separately.

Automatic LoTW Upload Caption and Bar

You can place the progress caption and bar above the **Last Log Entries** grid if the grid is positioned at the bottom of the window. Doing so may be preferred if you choose not to display the **Last Log Entries** grid.

😵 DXtreme Station Log 15 (PJ2MAN) — —	o x
<u>File Edit Search Modules QSLing Audio Imaging Reports Maps Links Tools Help SFI: 87 Ap: 4 Kp: 1 (18:43:27)</u>	
₩ • 🚯 • 🗒 • 🏯 • 🖷 • 🔯 📲 🖉 🖉 🖉 🖉 🖉	ew 🛅 🗙
Station Station Information Verification *Comments User Defined Fields Improv Imaging	
Station Data Frequency, Band, and Mode Meter Band	Vavelength
Call Sign: PJ2MAN B+Dx: 175° 2118.26 mi Freq: 21075 kHz 15	14.23
City: Willemstad S/P: Mode: FT8 Franke-Taylor 8-FSK	
County: Grid: Excount	
Cititity SA: Curacao	
IOTA: SA-099 PJ2 Ouracao Island Sent: +03 Rcvd: -12	
CQ Zone: 09 Name: Sherman Prop: F2 F2 Reflection	
DXCC: Varified V/UCC: File:	a ⁰ >
Band: Verified 2x1° Grid: FK52	<u> </u>
Mode: Verified LoTW: No NF11 Radio Shack Divital Application Social Media Post Tune	1 1
All QSOs	<u></u> TP
Date and Time Rig: IC-7700 Icom IC-7700 Transceiver	
Time Date: Defendence Start: Local Ant: LCC. Director 15-M Extended Diople	
End: 18:41 Acc: MFJ-976 MFJ-976 Balanced Antenna Tuner	
	I
SFI: 87 Ap: 4 Kp: 1 Historic Pwr: 40 40 Watts	
Automatic LoTW Upload Progress Bar (Nashua)	
Properties	
Last 1000 Log Entries By Date and Start Time Descending	rid (Bottom On
Date Stat Freq Mode Power Station Sent Rcvd Entity	
07/24/2021 18:40 21075 FT8 40 PI2MAN +03 -12 Curacao	
07/21/2021 22:45 21075 FT8 100 PU4TNT -11 -19 Brazil Field Help	
07/21/2021 22:43 21075 FT8 100 PY2DPM -11 -06 Brazil 11 GG66ta	
07/21/2021 22:41 21075 FT8 100 NC3O -10 -06 United States 05 FN10ke PA	
07/21/2021 22:39 21075 FT8 100 EA8KK -06 +05 Canary Is. 33 IL27gw	AF-004
07/18/2021 12:41 50314 FT8 80 K1BZM FN42 FN51 United States 05 FN51 MA	
07/14/2021 17:36 144175 FT8 330 K0AWU +06 -01 United States 04 EN37 MN	
Landa da anticidade da la companya da la companya da la companya da la companya da companya da companya da comp	
07/14/2021 17:03 144175 FT8 330 KA9FOX -10 -02 United States 04 EN43 WI	•

When you click **Properties**, the **LoTW** tab of the **Preferences** window appears so you can quickly change your *active station location* when necessary.

Preferences	
User Database + UDF General Internet Solar Outgoing QSLs Auto QSL Imaging Audio Auto Backups Report Viewer LoTW Maps DX Atlas Contests Band Master Links Ham CAP JT Log Entry Processing TQSL and LoTW Account Properties	OK Cancel Apply
Automatic LoTW Upload Properties Image: Display the LoTW Web Page When Uploading URL: https://lotw.arrl.org/lotwuser/default TQSL Display Delay: 200	
Change preferences, or click Cancel to exit.	NS CAPS

Outgoing QSL Web Service Integration

DXtreme Station Log 15 has an *Outgoing QSL Web Service* facility that makes it easy to send official QSL cards via a third-party QSL bureau web site, such as **QDure** at:

https://qsl.ure.es/en/

At the time of this writing, DXtreme Software recommends **QDure**.

Note: As part of setting up an *Outgoing QSL Web Service* in **Preferences**, you type the name of the service you want to use, and that name appears in menus throughout **Station Log 15** (hence the name *QDure* in our screen shots).

How It Works

You begin by adding, modifying, or displaying a log entry. Then, on the **Verification/Outgoing** tab, make sure the Outgoing QSL **Sent** box is set to *Yes* either manually or automatically as determined in **Preferences**. If necessary, click **OK**.

Note: Because you will likely pay for the QSLs you send via an *Outgoing QSL Web Service*, and to avoid sending QSLs by mistake, **Station Log 15** requires setting the **Sent** box to *Yes* before appending QSL records to the *Service* workfile.

Next, on the **Station Log** toolbar, click the *Process Outgoing QSL Web Service* button.

<u>e</u>

Or click the arrow next to the button and then **Create/Upload {***Name of Outgoing QSL Web Service***}** Records.



Station Log 15 creates the *Outgoing QSL Web Service* record and prompts you for the next action to perform.

Proces	ss QDure Records (Primary Database)
Proces	 Sty Opure Records (Primary Database) Your QDure record for OD5ZZ is ready for appending to the QDure workfile. After appending this record, do you want to upload ALL pending records to the QDure server, or keep the workfil for more records? Click Append and Upload to: Append the QDure record for OD5ZZ to the QDure workfile. Create the Upload File in the Outgoing QSL folder. Upload the file manually to the QDure server. Upload File Name: Primary Database_OutgoingQSLWebService.adi Location of Outgoing QSL Folder: C:\DXtremeStationLog15\OutgoingQSLs Caution: If you click Append and Upload, you MUST perform the upload on the QDure Web site! Click Append to: Append the QDure record for OD5ZZ to the QDure workfile. Keep the QDure more for OD5ZZ to the QDure workfile. Click Cancel to: Stop the creation of this QDure workfile record.
	Append and Upload Append Cancel

Click the appropriate button.

In addition, when there's no log entry on display, you can click the Process Outgoing QSL Web Service button to upload pending workfile records to the server.



Or click the arrow next to the button and then **Create/Upload {***Name of Outgoing QSL Web Service***}** Records....



Station Log 15 prompts you for the next action to perform.

Process QDure Records (Primary Database)								
?	You have QDure records in the QDure workfile awaiting upload to the server.							
7	Do you want to upload your pending QDure records now?							
	Click Yes to:							
	 Create the Upload File in the Outgoing QSL folder. Access the QDure Web site. Upload the file manually to the QDure server. 							
	Upload File Name: Primary Database_OutgoingQSLWebService.adi Location of Outgoing QSL Folder: C:\DXtremeStationLog15\OutgoingQSLs Caution: If you click Yes, you MUST perform the upload on the QDure Web site!							
	Click No to: Keep the QDure workfile open for more records.							
	<u>Y</u> es <u>N</u> o 🧟 🞯							

Click the appropriate button.

Whenever you upload records, **Station Log 15** displays the *Outgoing QSL Web Service* site in your web browser where you must submit the upload file manually. (The *Outgoing QSL Web Service* site provides upload instructions.)

Viewing the Workfile

You can click the arrow next to the *Process Outgoing QSL Web Service* button and then **View/Edit the {***Name of Outgoing QSL Web Service***}** Workfile whenever you want to see or edit the records in the workfile.



Outgoing QSL Web Service Properties

On the **Outgoing QSLs** tab of **Preferences**, the **Outgoing QSL Web Service Properties** area lets you specify the options you want.

Outgoing QSL Web Service Properties								
<u>N</u> ame:	QDure							
<u>U</u> RL:	https://qsl.ure.es/en/							
Not <u>e</u> s:	Notes							
QSL Msg:	Thanks for the QSO!							

The **Notes** text box lets you type text that will appear on all bureau QSLs by means of the NOTES ADIF tag.

The **QSL Msg** text box lets you type text that will appear on all bureau QSLs by means of the QSLMSG ADIF tag.

Outgoing QSL Web Service functions are also accessible via the **QSLing -> Create** menu on the **Station Log** window.

Outgoing QSL Web Service records are managed per database

Club Log Integration

Automatic Club Log Record Creation

At your option, you can create Club Log records automatically when adding or modifying log entries.

While you're adding or modifying a log entry, the Busy indicator appears on the **Club Log** toolbar button:

• 🔆

When the record has been created in the Club Log workfile, the Done indicator appears on the button:

1.

Club Log records accumulate in a workfile per database until you upload them.

Only qualified *modifications* are allowed to Club Log records, such as changes to the call sign, DXCC entity, date, time, band/frequency, mode, and QSL status (as in *Yes* or *No*).

Note: You can also create Club Log workfile records manually by turning off automatic creation in **Preferences**.
Club Log Workfile Upload

When you're ready to upload the workfile:

1. With no log entry on display, on the **Station Log** toolbar, click the arrow next to the Club Log toolbar button and then **Create/Upload Club Log Records**.



- 2. Click Yes to confirm, and Station Log 15 creates an upload file in the Exports folder, which by default is c:\DXtremeStationLog15\Exports
- 3. When the Club Log Web site appears, upload the following file from the Exports folder: {Name of Database}_ClubLog_Upload.adi

Refer to the Club Log Web site for upload instructions.

Batch Upload to Club Log

Batch Upload to Club Log is useful when Club Log does not contain all your log entries. Thereafter, the automatic (or manual) method, described earlier, is recommended.

When you're ready to perform a batch upload:

1. *With no log entry on display,* on the **Station Log** toolbar, click the arrow next to the Club Log toolbar button and then **Batch Upload to Club Log**.



- 2. When the **Criteria** window appears, specify a date, a range of dates, or other criteria to select log entries to upload.
- 3. Click Run. Station Log 15 creates the Club Log records and writes them to a database- and *batch-specific* upload file in the Exports folder, which by default is: c:\DXtremeStationLog15\Exports
- 4. When the Club Log Web site appears, upload the following file from the Exports folder: {Name of Database}_ClubLog_Batch_Upload.adi

Refer to the Club Log Web site for upload instructions.

Setting Up Direct Print QSL Labels

Before you use the **Direct Print QSL Labels** function to accumulate and print QSL labels on your printer, you **must** perform the following steps:

1. On the QSLing menu of the Station Log window, point to Properties and click Direct Print QSL Labels. The Properties - Direct Print QSL Labels window appears.

Properties - Direct	Print QSL Lab	els							x
Label	Status	Top Margin	Left Margin	Vert Pitch	Horiz Pitch	Labels Across	Rows	Orientation	•
5160	Active	0.5	0.25	1	2.75	3	10	Portrait	
5161	Active	0.6	0.22	1	4.19	2	10	Portrait	
5260	Default	0.5	0.1	1	2.83	3	10	Portrait	
8162	Active	0.83	0.22	1.33	4.19	2	7	Portrait	
Card	Active	3.25	1.5	3.5	7	2	2	Landscape	
Dymo	Active	0.5	0.2	1	2	1	1	Portrait	
L7160	Active	0.63	0.34	1.5	2.6	3	7	Portrait	•
Label Propertie La <u>b</u> el: <u>S</u> tatus: Top Margin:	s Edit Area- 5360 Active 0.5	Le <u>f</u> t ▼ ⊻e <u>H</u> or	Margin: 0.1 ert Pitch: 1 fiz Pitch: 2.7		Lab,	els Across: 3 <u>R</u> ows: 7 Porientation: Po	rtrait <u> </u>	Cancel	
Add the new reco	ord.							INS CA	PS

2. On the **Properties - Direct Print QSL Labels** window, enter the properties of the label stock you want to use **if it isn't listed**, *keeping in mind that you must adjust the Left Margin value to accommodate the additional left margin your printer imposes*.

Important Notes:

- Usually, it is necessary to subtract an eighth to a quarter inch from the Left
 Margin measured on the label stock for Portrait-oriented stock, or from the Top
 Margin for Landscape-oriented stock. It all depends on the printer you are using.
- And you may have to make this adjustment to the label stock properties that DXtreme Software provides as defaults.



• Therefore, you must perform a test before you can print labels for mailing.

- 3. Use this procedure to create test labels that verify the properties of the label stock you want to use. Some experimentation may be necessary.
 - a. With a QSO listed on the **Station Log** window that also has an address listed on the **Station Information** tab, on the **QSLing** menu of the **Station Log** window, point to **Create** and click **Direct Print QSL Labels**.

С	reate Direct Pri	nt QSL Lak	oels (Prima	ny Database)							x
F	ile Edit He	lp									
Γ	QSO Informa	ation				Label Proces	sing —				
			EA8KK			Available		Active		Type	ata
	Date	UTC	MHz	Mode	RS(T)	10	_≥	<u> </u>	C A	dress	30a 5
	21-Jul-2021	22:39	21	FT8	-06	12 13 14	Clear	<u>R</u> eserved	<u>C</u> 01	nmit	
						15		Reserved	Labels		
						17	Label	Station	Туре	Lines	
	- Closing Evr	ression -	OSL Ben	uest - Signat	ure	18	1	ZB2ER	QSO	1	
	Distrig Exp	ression -		se OSL (C. 1		20	2	OD5ZZ	QSO	1	
	Prop:F2		<u> </u>		111/202	21	3	OD5ZZ	Add	1	
	I Inx QSC) 73 Bob				23	4	КМОТ	QSO	1	
L						24	5	KM0T	Add	1	
Γ	Address Info	rmation -				25	6	KOAWU	QSO	1	
	Miquel Ange	Hernand	lez Perez			27	7	K0AWU	Add	1	
	P.O. Box , 1			Web	Lookup	28	8	EA8KK	QSO	1	-
I	Valle De Sa Tenerife 386	n Lorenzo 526 Canai	ry Islands			30	Previ Lal	ew <u>N</u> ow	Lines	Close	•
		Change t	to 'QSL <u>V</u> i	a: EA8KK'		NPIE	B5F1F (HP	LaserJet 200 colo	r M251nw)	
								1			

Click the Close button to close the window and create labels later.

b. Point to the space under the Label Name and Lines boxes and double-click to access the Direct Print QSL Labels Printer Options dialog box. When you first access this window, the area under the Label Name and Lines boxes may not have a visible hyperlink. Double-click anyway. (You must have already installed at least one printer on your system to proceed.)

c. Select the desired printer, paper size, and a *non-proportional-space* font, such as Courier New or OCR. Click **OK**.

Direct Print (QSL Labels Printer Optic	ons	
Printer Pa	arameters		
Pr <u>i</u> nter:	HP LaserJet 200 colo	or M251 PCL 6	•
Paper:	Letter	▼ Records Per Page:	1 -
		Modes Per <u>L</u> ine:	2 🔻
		<u>C</u> opies:	1 🔻
	OCR A Ex	tended 8 Non-Bold Non-Italic:	<u>F</u> ont
			ок 🙋
Select the	printer you want to us	se.	

- d. On the **Create Direct Print QSL Labels** window, select the desired stock in the **Label Name** box and enter *3* in the **Lines** box.
- e. Double-click a label number in the **Available** box, click the **QSO Data** option button, and then click the **Commit** button.
- f. Double-click a label number in the **Available** box, click the **Address** option button, and then click the **Commit** button.
- g. Click Close.
- h. Bring up another QSO on the **Station Log** window and access the **Create Direct Print QSL Labels** window again. Repeat Steps e and f.
- Click the **Preview** button to perform a print preview. Make sure that no information from one label encroaches upon another. If this happens, close preview and edit the appropriate label: Single-click the number of the offending label in the **Reserved Labels** list, right-click, and then click **Edit Direct Print Label**. Make the necessary changes. Preview again.
- j. Insert a regular piece of paper into your printer for the test.
- k. Click Now.
- I. Compare the printout to a blank piece of label stock. Make any necessary adjustments on the **Properties Direct Print QSL Labels** window and perform the test again until you're satisfied.

Caution: Via the **Edit** menu, you can edit the raw data of Direct Print QSL labels in Notepad, enabling you to make changes to the QSO data.

Edit Direct	Print Raw Label Data - Caution!	\times
?	Use care when editing Direct Print raw label data. 1) All data must be enclosed in quotation marks. 2) Do not change the first two lines of data! 3) Change QSO label text ONLY! 4) Do not add additional fields of data. 5) Edit ONLY the following fields of data: a) Call b) Date c) Time d) Band e) Mode f) Report 6) You must click File> Save in Notepad to save your changes. 7) Do not change the file name! 8) Do not change the location of the file! Mistakes can cause Direct Print label creation to fail. Refer to the Help system for instructions and examples: Logging Stations Managing Outgoing QSLs Creating Direct Print QSL and address labels Do you want to continue?	
	Yes No	

You *must* refer to the **Procedural Help** system for instructions before performing this task.

Reports

DXtreme Station Log 15 has an array of reports that let you track the performance of your station. You run reports from the **Reports** menu of the **Station Log** window. The following types of reports are available.

DXCC Analytics

DXCC Analytics is a window-based tool that lets you analyze your DXCC data and quickly access the specific log entries upon which you need to take some kind of action, such as submitting or re-submitting a QSL or e-mailing the ham you contacted.

You begin by selecting a desired mode, or all modes. **DXCC Analytics** then goes to work, building and displaying a record set showing the number of band entities *Worked*, *Verified*, and *Worked But Not Verified* (labeled *Delta*) for each band and for all bands. (As an option, check boxes let you specify whether to include **Deleted** and **Non-DXCC** entities in your analysis, and **Power From** and **To** boxes let you filter your analysis by the output power used; you can specify a single power level, or a range of power levels.)

When you double-click a *Worked*, *Verified*, or *Delta* data element for a desired band, or for all bands, you see a list of entities that satisfy the element you chose, along with the number of QSOs in each entity.

When you double-click a desired *entity*, you see a list of its QSOs, including the band and date. You can sort this list by *Station*, *Band*, *Date Ascending*, or *Date Descending*.

CC Anal	lytics									
Specify C	Options and Ex	ecute N/A	0	Delta E	Entity List Fo	or SSB O	n 20			
Show: [Deleted?	Power Fro	m: 1	Prefix	Name				QSOs S	•
Ē	Non-DXCC?			5X	Uganda				1 C	
	Mode		0 . 1500	8R	Guyana				2 C	
000	<u>m</u> ode		1	9G	Ghana				1 C	
33D	Maine (UDD 11		New	9L	Sierra Le	one			1 C	
	voice (USB, LS))		9Y	Trinidad	& Toba	go		3 C	
SR Ran	d Entities Sum	man		со	Cuba				4 C	
Band	Worked	Verified	Dalta	CU	Azores				2 C	_
Bana	worked	venjiea		F7	Bosnia-I	Hercego	vina		1 C	-
160	25	12	3	Entity	and WAS N	eeded L	ists Not Appropria	ate For Delta	Recordset	s
60		21		- Delta (OSO List Fo	- SSB ()r	20 In Guyana-			
40		41	17	Statio		Rand	Data	ID		-
20	0	41	1/	90111	ш Б.А	20	10/09/2001	669	_	(S
20	122	04	20	9017	эн	20	10/09/2001	1642		ОВ
17	80	47	22	0012		20	12/08/2002	1042		C D
15	114		23							~ -
12	35	25	11					_		O D
10	102	25	17					_		
5	30	26	1/							Get
2	1	30	0							
2 07	1	1	0						-	Clo
0.7 AU	100	174	25							
011	122	1/4	<u></u>				1	1	T	1

Double-click a QSO to load it into the Station Log window. To load all QSOs, click Get All.

You can then load one or all QSOs into the **Station Log** window to perform a desired action on them ... while the **DXCC Analytics** window persists for further analysis.

DXCC Analytics works with lots of data, and if your database has thousands of QSOs in it, you must allow it enough time to work. The results, however, are worth the wait. But when you want to work with an entity list over several days, you can use the **Previous Entity List (PEL)** feature described next.

DXCC Needed Lists

After double-clicking a *Worked* or *Verified* data element for a desired band or for all bands in the **Band Entities Summary** area, and after the **Entity List** area displays its list of entities, you can click the **Entity Needed List** hyperlink to generate a list of entities you still need for the mode, data element, and band(s) clicked.



If you want to retain your DXCC needed lists, on the *File* menu of *Notepad*, click *Save As* and save each list to the desired location using a unique file name. Alternatively, you can print each list.

Previous Entity Lists

When it builds an entity list, **DXCC Analytics** saves it to a local file, enabling you to reload its data later — in seconds! — to continue working with it.

To reload a previous entity list, click the **PEL** button. The **Select Previous Entity List** window appears to let you select the entity list you want to reload.

The data appears immediately. You can now continue to work with it.

WAS Analytics

WAS Analytics is a window-based tool that lets you analyze your Worked All States (WAS) data and quickly access the specific log entries upon which you need to take some kind of action, such as submitting or re-submitting a QSL or e-mailing the ham you contacted.

WAS Analytics works like **DXCC Analytics**. One difference is that the first time you use it, you must specify the DXCC entities that best represent the WAS entities for United States, Alaska, and Hawaii.

W	AS Analytics	5	
	Specify Opti	ons and Execute WA	S Entities
	Select <u>U</u> S:	United States	•
	Select A <u>K</u> :	Alaska	•
	Select <u>H</u> I:	Hawaii	•

You begin by selecting a desired mode, or all modes. **WAS Analytics** then goes to work, building and displaying a record set showing the number of band states *Worked*, *Verified*, and *Worked But Not Verified* (labeled *Delta*) for each band and for all bands. (As an option, **Power From** and **To** boxes let you filter your analysis by the output power you used; you can specify a single power level, or a range of power levels.)

Specify Opt	tions and Execute	WAS	Entities	Delta WAS Li	st For CW Or	1 30			_
Show: 🗖	Deleted? Pov	ver <u>F</u> rom	:	State	Q	\$Os			▲ Est
	Non-DXCC?	То		AL	1				
	Mode	10		CA	1				
2W/				FL	3				
	Continuous Maus		New	GA	2				
	continuous wave			IL	10)			
W Band V	NAS Summary -			IN	3				
Pand	Marked 1	logified	Dolta A	KY	2				_
160	WORKEU I	22	14	MI	6				•
100	40	32		Entity and W	AS Needed L	ists Not Appropria	ate For Delta	Recordse	ts
00	1 1	1							
60	0	0	0	🗆 Delta QSO Li	st For CW Or	30 In IL			
60 40	0	0	0 4	Delta QSO Li	st For CW Or Band	30 In IL Date	ID		 Station
50 40 30	0 6 23	0 2 5	0 4 18	Delta QSO Lis Station KB9YR	st For CW Or Band 30	0 30 In IL	ID 1316	-	Statio
50 40 30 20	0 6 23 7	0 2 5 3	0 4 18 4	Delta QSO Lis Station KB9YR KC9XO	st For CW Or Band 30 30	0 30 In IL Date 06/09/1985 01/30/1985	ID 1316 1313		
50 40 30 20 17	0 6 23 7 2	0 2 5 3 1	0 4 18 4 1	Delta QSO Lis Station KB9YR KC9XO KY9L	st For CW Or Band 30 30 30 30	Date 06/09/1985 01/30/1985 05/21/1984	ID 1316 1313 1300		 Statio Band Date -
50 40 30 20 17 15	0 6 23 7 2 2 10	0 2 5 3 1 3	0 4 18 4 1 7	- Delta QSO Lis Station KB9YR KC9XO KY9L KY9L	st For CW Or Band 30 30 30 30 30	Date 06/09/1985 01/30/1985 05/21/1984 08/10/1984	<i>ID</i> 1316 1313 1300 1307		 Station Band Date + Date -
50 40 30 20 17 15 12	0 6 23 7 2 10 10	0 2 5 3 1 3 1	0 4 18 4 1 7 0	Delta QSO Li: Station KB9YR KC9XO KY9L KY9L KY9L	st For CW Or Band 30 30 30 30 30 30 30	Date Date 06/09/1985 01/30/1985 05/21/1984 08/10/1984 05/04/1985	ID 1316 1313 1300 1307 1315		 Station Band Date - Date -
50 40 30 20 17 15 12 10	0 6 23 7 2 10 10 1 6	0 2 5 3 1 3 1 3 1 4	0 4 18 4 1 7 0 2	Delta QSO Li: Station KB9YR KC9XO KY9L KY9L KY9L KY9L	st For CW Or Band 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30	Date Date 06/09/1985 01/30/1985 05/21/1984 08/10/1984 05/04/1985 07/05/1985	<i>ID</i> 1316 1313 1300 1307 1315 1317		 Station Band Date - Date -
60 40 30 20 17 15 12 10 6	0 6 23 7 2 10 10 1 1 6 14	0 2 5 3 1 3 1 4 4 11	0 4 18 4 1 7 0 2 3	Delta QSO Li: Station KB9YR KC9XO KY9L KY9L KY9L KY9L N9EXN	st For CW Or Band 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30	Date Date 06/09/1985 01/30/1985 05/21/1984 08/10/1984 05/04/1985 07/05/1985 11/17/1985	<i>ID</i> 1316 1313 1300 1307 1315 1317 1357		
60 40 30 20 17 15 12 10 6 2	0 6 23 7 2 10 10 1 6 4 4 8	0 2 5 3 1 3 1 4 4 11 3	0 4 18 4 1 7 0 2 3 5	Delta QSO Li: Station KB9YR KC9XO KY9L KY9L KY9L KY9L N9EXN W9PM	st For CW Or Band 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30	Date Date 06/09/1985 01/30/1985 05/21/1984 08/10/1984 05/04/1985 07/05/1985 11/17/1985 09/06/1984	ID 1316 1313 1300 1307 1315 1317 1357 1379		Station Band Date + Date - <u>Get All Chase </u>
60 40 30 20 17 15 12 10 6 2 0.7	0 6 23 7 2 10 10 1 1 6 4 4 8 0	0 2 5 3 1 3 1 4 4 11 3 0	0 4 18 4 1 7 0 2 3 5 0	Delta QSO Li: Station KB9YR KC9XO KY9L KY9L KY9L KY9L N9EXN W9PM W9QKL	st For CW Or Band 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30 30	Date Date 06/09/1985 01/30/1985 05/21/1984 08/10/1984 05/04/1985 07/05/1985 11/17/1985 09/06/1984 01/14/1985	ID 1316 1313 1300 1307 1315 1317 1357 1379 1383		Statio <u>Band</u> <u>Date</u> <u>Date</u> <u>O</u> ate - <u>O</u> ate - <u>O</u> ate

Double-click a QSO to load it into the Station Log window. To load all QSOs, click Get All.

WAS Needed Lists

After double-clicking a *Worked* or *Verified* data element for a desired band or for all bands in the **Band WAS Summary** area, and after the **WAS List** area displays its list of states, you can click the **WAS Needed List** hyperlink to generate a list of states you still need for the mode, data element, and band(s) clicked.



If you want to retain your WAS needed lists, on the *File* menu of *Notepad*, click *Save As* and save each list to the desired location using a unique file name. Alternatively, you can print each list.

Previous State Lists

When it builds a state list, **WAS Analytics** saves it to a local file, enabling you to reload its data later — in seconds! — to continue working with it.

To reload a previous state list, click the **PSL** button. The **Select Previous State List** window appears to let you select the state list you want to reload.

The data appears immediately. You can now continue to work with it.

Performance

Performance reports let you track the overall performance of your station. The report shows the number of contacts per subject and whether the subject is worked or verified overall, and on each mode and band. You can produce a **Performance** report for each of the following subjects:

- Entities
- Continents
- US-CA Counties
- CQ Zones
- Grid locators
- IOTA numbers
- Propagation Modes
- States and Provinces
- Digital Applications
- User-defined fields (UDFs)

Bands

Bands reports let you analyze the performance of your station from a bands perspective. The report shows the number of contacts you have made per band — overall and on each mode. The report also shows grand totals for all bands and for each mode.

Stations

Stations reports let you see a list of the stations in your log.

Filtering Reports

You can filter your **Performance**, **Bands**, and **Stations** reports by clicking the **Criteria** button on report dialog boxes. Several fields are available for filtering.

Set Criteria for Performance Report - Subject: Entities	Worked	
Station Data	User-Defined Fields	
Call: S/P: 🗸	Section 1 (Default Order) Section 2 (Default Order)	
City: Grid: 🗸	Submode:	
	Contest Name:	
	Contest Serial Number:	
Entity:	EME Degradation:	
CQZ: Cont:	Receive Antenna Used:	▼ □ N
, _ , _	Outgoing Buro QSL Sce:	▼ □ N
Band and Mode Band From: Mode:	Call Used:	• 🗆 N
To: 3 FT8 .	Shack and Digital Application Used	<u>C</u> lear Fields
Date and Time Date Time	Ant:	
Erom: 09/02/2021	Acc:	
To: 09/02/2021	App: JTDX	- Append to
	Power From: 1 To: 50 5	File
QSL Status	Logbook of the World	<u>R</u> un
Sent:	LoTW QSO Record Status	Class
Rx'd: Yes V Not	Click for Last Batch LoTW Upload Details	

Enter the LoTW QSL Record Status.

You can therefore run reports that contain:

- All the information in your log, or
- Specific information from your log that satisfies the criteria you specify.

For example, you can run a Performance report that shows DXCC entities that are:

1) Verified

- 2) By LoTW
- 3) While operating FT8
- 4) Using JTDX
- 5) Running 1 to 50 watts

Or perhaps you'd like to run a report for a specific antenna, to see how well it performs ... or for a particular band, mode, or user-defined field ...

As you can see, there are many possibilities on the **Set Criteria** window.

Filtering Suggestion

You should avoid running a **Stations** report *without employing some kind of filtering* if you have more than 50,000 QSOs in your database and you are outputting the report to the **Active Report Viewer** or the **Standard Report Viewer**. Web browsers have difficulty displaying such large reports. Expect a report of 50,000 QSOs to take upwards of ten minutes to appear.

Output Devices

You can output your reports to the following devices:

- Printer To the printer you select. Make sure you select a printer first. Follow the instructions in the on-line Help.
- Viewer To the DXtreme Active Report Viewer or Standard Report Viewer.
 See the next section for important information.
- FTP To the Web space provided by your ISP automatically, where you and your friends can access them remotely. When accessed from the Web, the reports appear within the Active Report Viewer or Standard Report Viewer.

DXtre	me Active	e Repor	t Viewe	r — NE1	I																								FT	B JTD	(1-5	ow	LoTV	N Q	SLd E	Entiti	ies -	- 2	Sept	ember 20.	21
Perform	ance Report	Contacts	Summary	Modes Sum	mary	Bands S	ummary	Clic	k Here	If Not	Using Ir	tern	et Expl	orer																									Pre	ferences H	elp
Total R	ecords: 34 F	Per Page:	400	Apply												Dis	able Colum	ın ID																	F	irst	Prev	1	dext	Last Page	1 of 1
Click a	column head t	to sort asc	ending or d	escending.																																					
		_	_		_	_	_	_									_						_					_	_	_	_	_	_		_	_	_	_	_		
Prefix	Entity	Contact	<u>Verified</u>	CONTEST	<u>cw</u>	DOMINO	FSK441	E	4 FT8	HEL	ISCA1	154	116	<u> 116</u>	4 119	MFSK16	MSK144		PK	T PSK3	PSK6	3 RTT	<u>¥ 55</u>	8 11	0 THR	I TOP	<u>M160</u>	<u>M80</u>	<u>M60</u>	<u>H40</u>	<u>M30</u>	<u>M20</u>	<u>M17</u>	<u>M15</u>	<u>M12</u>	<u>M10</u>	<u>M6</u>	<u>M2</u>	<u>M0.7</u>	Entity	Prefix
ST	Mauntania	1	Y	N	N	N	N	N	V	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	V	N	N	N	N	N	N	Mauntania	ST
90 C5	The Gambia	1	Y	N	N	N	N	N	v	14	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	v	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	The Gambia	90 C5
CP	Bolivia	1	Y	N	N	N	N	N	v	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	v	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Bolivia	CP
CU	Azores	2	Y	N	N	N	N	N	v	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	V	N	V	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Azores	CU
CX	Uruguay	1	Y	N	N	N	N	N	V	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	v	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Uruguay	CX
DL	Germany	3	Y	N	N	N	N	N	V	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	v	v	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Germany	DL
EA	Spain	2	Y	N	N	N	N	N	v	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	v	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Spain	EA
EAB	Canary Is.	2	Y	N	N	N	N	N	V	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	V	N	N	N	V	N	N	N	N	N	N	Canary Is.	EA8
EA9	Ceuta + Melilla	1	Y	N	N	N	N	N	v	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N	N	N	v	N	N	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	Ceuta + Melilla	EA9
EI	Ireland	2	Y	N	Ν	N	N	Ν	V	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N	V	N	N	N	v	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	Ireland	EI
F	France	1	Y	N	N	N	N	Ν	V	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	V	N	N	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	France	F
FG	Guadeloupe	2	Y	N	N	N	N	Ν	V	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	V	V	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	Guadeloupe	FG
FP	St. Pierre + Miguelon	1	Y	N	N	N	N	N	v	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Ν	۷	N	N	St. Pierre + Miquelon	FP
HC	Ecuador	1	Y	N	N	N	N	N	V	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	V	N	N	N	N	N	N	Ecuador	HC
HK	Colombia	1	Y	N	Ν	N	N	Ν	V	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N	Ν	N	Ν	N	Ν	N	N	N	V	N	N	N	Ν	Ν	N	N	Colombia	нк
IS0	Sardinia	1	Y	N	Ν	N	N	Ν	V	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	V	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	Sardinia	IS0
37	Dominica	3	Y	N	Ν	N	N	N	V	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	v	v	v	N	N	N	N	N	N	Dominica	37
к	United States	18	Y	N	N	N	N	N	v	74	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	и	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	٧	N	v	N	v	v	N	N	N	N	٧	N	N	United States	к

Running Reports When Using Station Log 15 on Windows 11 and Windows 10 21H2 and Later

Microsoft[®] has disabled Internet Explorer[®] in Windows[®] 11 and Windows 10 21H2. The **DXtreme Active Report Viewer** relied upon Internet Explorer for its functioning, and DXtreme Software is pleased by the availability of *Internet Explorer Mode* in the *Microsoft Edge*[™] browser.

At the time of this writing, Windows 11 is in beta and *Internet Explorer Mode* is available from Microsoft. We at DXtreme have been testing the **DXtreme Active Report Viewer** within *Internet Explorer Mode*, where it is operating well. Further, we have noticed the continued evolution of *Internet Explorer Mode*, and we're confident the latest features

will make using the **Active Report Viewer** in *Internet Explorer Mode* a satisfying experience.

Because the development of *Internet Explorer Mode* is ongoing, access the **DXtreme** <u>Station Log and *Internet Explorer Mode* Information Center</u> on the Web *now* and *at regular intervals* to prepare your PC to run reports.

Performing Updates

Prefix and Call Sign Cross-References

Performing Prefix and Call Sign Cross-Reference updates is essential for ensuring accurate entity selection in **DXtreme Station Log 15**. The program makes entity selections when you import ADIF files, add log entries, and use the **DX Spot Checker**.

You should perform these updates at regular intervals.

First, make sure the **Entities** module is up-to-date with the latest ARRL entities.

Then, on the **Modules** menu, click **Prefix Cross-Reference.** On the **Prefix Cross-Reference Module** window, double-click the **Update** hyperlink.

Special Prefix	Standard Prefix	▲	Sort By
A	1A0		Special Prefix
ΔA	GM		C Standard Prefix
2D	GD		A did Marrie
2E	G		Add <u>N</u> ew
21	GI		Delete
บ	GJ		
2M	GM		Cancel
20	GU	•	
ancial Brafixy	Standard Prefix:		<u>Update</u>

Double-click to perform a prefix and call sign cross-reference update. INS CAPS

The Prefix and Call Sign Cross-References Update dialog box appears. Double-click I Need the Country.Dat File.





Follow the instructions on the **Prefix and Call Sign Cross-References Update** window to download the Country.Dat file and start the update.



After you click **Update** on the **Prefix and Call Sign Cross-References Update** dialog box, **DXtreme Station Log 15** imports the latest prefix and call sign cross-reference data from the Country.Dat file.

Prefix and	Callsign Cross-Reference Update	×
i	Prefix and call sign cross-reference update completed (346 records).	
	ОК	3

Click **OK**.

Performing an Interactive Update

After installing a new or upgrade version of **Station Log 15**, you must perform an *Interactive Update* the first time you run a *Prefix and Call Sign Cross-Reference Update*. This action populates the exception cache with your selections.

As it performs the interactive update, **Station Log 15** links the special prefixes and call signs in the file with the ARRL standard prefixes in the **Station Log 15** database. When **Station Log 15** encounters a prefix or call sign in the file it cannot link, it prompts you to select the appropriate standard prefix on the **Select Standard Prefix** dialog box.

Select Standard Prefix
DXtreme Station Log 14 does not recognize the standard prefix being imported from country.dat.
Prefix: 1A Entity: Sov Mil Order of Malta
Select the standard prefix in the Prefix list box that most closely matches 1A.
View Research Site View Country.Dat
Prefix: 1A0 Continue
S.M.O. Malta
Stop the Lindate
Stop the Opdate
Select prefix.

This happens about 20 times while processing several hundred entries because the Country.Dat file contains some prefixes that are not standard ARRL prefixes. For example, you never see a prefix of 3D2/C in a call sign; you see 3D2.

Most of the time, prefix differences are minor, and the proper prefix comes up after you type one or two characters.

Sometimes, it is useful to type a prefix and then use the arrow keys on your keyboard to scroll to the proper entity.

After you perform the update a few times, you tend to memorize the corrections. It takes about 10 minutes to perform an interactive update.

To assist you in performing your interactive updates, the following table shows the notso-obvious prefix associations you might encounter:

Country.Dat Prefix	Select This Prefix
3DA	3D6
4U1V	OE
CE9	КС4
СМ	СО
FT5X	FT8X
FT5Z	FT8Z
GM/S	GM
НМ	Р5
IG9	I
IT9	I
JW/B	JW
PJ7	РЈ5
UK	IJ
VR	VS6
YA	Т6

Performing Non-Interactive Updates

After performing an **Interactive Update**, you can then perform **Non-Interactive Updates** instead. The **Prefix and Call Sign Cross-Reference Update** facility will use the exception cache to automatically enter the selections you made previously. The only dialog box you'll see during a Non-Interactive update should be this one, announcing the update complete:



Clearing the Exception Cache

At times, you'll need to clear the exception cache. For example, after making prefixrelated changes to the **Entities** module, adding one or more new entities, or stopping an update in process.

To do so, double-click **Clear Exception Cache** on the initial dialog box.

You will then need to perform an **Interactive Update** again to build a new exception cache.

Notes:

- DXtreme Software is not responsible for the content or future availability of the Country.Dat file. This file is provided by AD1C solely for the enjoyment of Amateur Radio operators. (The Country.Dat file and AD1C web site are copyright-protected by James J. Reisert, AD1C.)
- Prefix and Call Sign Cross-Reference updates are database specific.

Logbook of the World Users

Performing Logbook of the World Users updates is essential for ensuring that LoTW user indications displayed in **DXtreme Station Log 15** are accurate. The program displays LoTW user indications — including the date and time each LoTW user last uploaded log entries to his or her account — when you import ADIF files, add log entries, and use the **DX Spot Checker** in **Grid Feed** mode.

You should perform these updates at regular intervals.

The upload file is available directly from the ARRL and is quite large.

As such, *allow 8 to 30 minutes* for the LoTW Update process to conclude, depending on the speed of your computer. In our lab, an Intel Pentium 4 PC running Windows XP took 30 minutes to update, while an Intel Core 2 Duo E6750 PC running Windows 10 took 17 minutes. An Intel Quad Core i5 PC running Windows 10 took only 8 minutes.

On the **Modules** menu, click **LoTW Users Update.** The **Logbook of the World Users Update** dialog box appears. Double-click **I Need the LoTW File.**

Logbook of the World Users Update	x			
Logbook of the World Users Update				
Your database was last updated on: August 31, 2021				
I Have the LoTW File				
Ignore Not Responding Messages! Entire Process Takes 10-30 minutes.				
<u>U</u> pdate Cancel				
To begin, double-click I Need the LoTW File.				

Follow the instructions on the **Logbook of the World Users Update** window to download the Lotw.Txt file.

To Update LoTW Users
1. Allow 8 to 20 minutes for the LoTW Update process to conclude,
depending on the speed of your computer.
 Click https://lotw.arrl.org/lotw-user-activity.csv. ARRL says this file is "typically updated once each week."
3. Click Save.
File Download × Do you want to open or save this file? • Image: Name: lotw-user-activity.csv • Type: Microsoft Excel 97-2003 Worksheet • From: lotw-arrl.org • Open Save Cancel • Image: While files from the Internet can be useful, some files can potentially harm your computer. If you do not trust the source, do not open or save this file. What's the risk ?
 Save lotw-user-activity.csv to your <i>current</i> database folder, typically C:\DXtremeStationLog15\Database. <i>Do not change the file name</i>. Click Close.
Download complete — X Iotw-user-activity.csv from lotw.arrl.org Downloaded: 2.91 MB in 1 sec Download to: C:\DXtremeStationL\Votw-user-activity.csv Transfer rate: 2.91 MB/Sec Iclose this dialog box when download completes Open Open folder
 Click Update on the Logbook of the World Users Update dialog box. Wait until the update finishes.

After you click **Update** on the **Logbook of the World Users Update** dialog box, **DXtreme Station Log 15** imports the latest LoTW users from the <code>lotw-user-activity.csv</code> file.

Important: If the call sign display in the title bar freezes, or you see Not Responding messages, ignore them. Depending on the speed of your computer, wait at least twice the time we indicated earlier. Eventually, you'll see this message box:

Logbook	of the World Users Update	×
i	Logbook of the World Users update completed (162961 records).	
	ОК	

And enjoy seeing LoTW user indications in **Station Log 15**.

Station Data	1	
Call Sign:	DD5ZZ	B+Dx: 54° 5408.6 mi
City:	Tripoli	S/P:
County:		Grid: KM74wk
Entity AS:	ebanon	
IOTA:		
CQ Zone:	20 Name: Walid	
DXC	CC: Verified VUCC	3
Ba	nd: Verified 2x1° Grid	: KM74
Мо	de: New LoTW	/: Yes (2021-08-28 03:14)

Notes:

- DXtreme Software is not responsible for the content or future availability of the lotw-user-activity.csv file.
- Logbook of the World Users updates are database-specific.

IOTA Reference Numbers and Descriptions

Performing IOTA[™] updates is essential for ensuring that IOTA selections and reports in **DXtreme Station Log 15** are accurate.

Important: You *must* perform an IOTA[™] update before you can use IOTA numbers in **DXtreme Station Log 15**. However, DXtreme Software does not have permission to distribute the Islands On The Air directory. We can allow you to add, modify, and delete IOTA reference numbers and descriptions on the **IOTA Module** window.

While DXtreme Software does not have permission to distribute the Islands On The Air directory, **DXtreme Station Log 15** can import the directory after you:

- a. Obtain it for non-commercial use from whatever source you can find.
- b. Create and format it as a space delimited text file.

For each record, the 6-character IOTA Reference Number must appear on the left, followed by a space character, and then by the description, which typically consists of the island name and a standard prefix. Example:

IOTA-Number Description

- c. Press *Enter* after each island record. There can be only one island record per line.
- d. Save the file as iotashortlist.csv in your current database folder, such as
 c:\DXtremeStationLog15\Database.

To perform the import, on the **Modules** menu, click **IOTA.** On the **IOTA Module** window, double-click the **Update** hyperlink.

IOTA	Description	Sort By
AF-001	3B6 Agalega Islands	
AF-002	FT*Z Amsterdam & St Paul Islands	U Description
AF-003	ZD8 Ascension Island	
AF-004	EA8 Canary Islands	Add <u>N</u> ew
AF-005	D4 Cape Verde – Leeward Islands	Delete
AF-006	VQ9 Diego Garcia Island	Delete
AF-007	D6 Comoro Islands	Cancel
AF-008	FT*W Crozet Islands	▼
<u>-</u> TA:	D <u>e</u> scription:	Update

The IOTA Module Update dialog box appears. Double-click Start Here to begin.

IOTA Module Update	x
IOTA Module Update	
Your database was last updated on: April 2, 2021	
Start Here	
You cannot cancel an import operation in progress.	
Update Cancel	

Follow the instructions on the **IOTA Module Update** window that appears. (We are not showing it here because it might change during the life of this document. Check the **Information Center** for possible updates.)

Notes:

- DXtreme Software is not responsible for the content or availability of the IOTA data you may find.
- IOTA updates are database-specific.

NOAA Solar Indices

Today's Solar Indices

Today's solar indices appear when the **DXtreme Station Log 15** is started and are updated automatically every thirty-minutes thereafter (if your Internet connection is active and the information is available from NOAA). Today's solar indices can also be updated on-demand (if available) by clicking the solar indices display on the menu bar.

۲	DXtrem	ne Station	Log 15 (O[)5ZZ)											×
File	Edit	Search	Modules	QSLing	Audio	Imaging	Reports	Maps	Links	Tools	Help	SFI: 80 Ap: 7 Kp: 1 (17:30:28)			
#	0	•	- 💩 - 🕯	🛪 🔻 🖺	•	- 🧟		∢ ► I			• •		New	L 010 101	X

An Internet connection is required, the information must be available from NOAA, and acquisition must be enabled on the **Solar** tab of **Preferences** (described earlier). Solar indices also appear in the menu bar of the **DX Spot Checker** and can be applied to log entries being imported by the **ADIF Import Utility**.

When you click the **New** button or the **JTP** button to log a contact, the **editable Solar Indices** text boxes — entitled **SFI**, **Ap**, and **Kp** — display the solar information that is valid **currently** — provided your Internet connection is active, the acquisition of solar indices is enabled in **Preferences**, and solar information is available from NOAA.

Solar Indices			
SFI: 80	Ap: 7	Kp: 1	Historic

The current solar indices are also displayed when you double-click the **SFI**, **Ap**, and **Kp** text boxes and when you tab out of the **Call Sign**, **Date**, **Start**, and **Freq** boxes. If server access to NOAA is slow, you might need to perform one of those tasks to display the indices. When you click **OK**, the software saves the displayed solar indices with the log entry.

If all else fails, you can type the solar indices manually for saving to the log entry. If you need to find solar information that is older than *right now*, you can click the **Historic** button to access a web page of relevant information (one is specified in **Preferences** by default).

When an existing log entry is on display, you can also modify the solar indices manually.

If you need to type solar indices often, in **Preferences** you can turn on Tab access to the **SFI**, **Ap**, and **Kp** text boxes as well as the **Historic** button.

As before, you can run **Performance**, **Stations**, and **Bands** reports against the solar data.

Historic Solar Indices Update Facility

The **Historic Solar Indices Update** facility lets you update a batch of log entries with solar data valid at the time of the QSO, provided the QSO took place on or after January 1, 1997 and the information is available from NOAA.

Running an update is useful after performing an **ADIF Import**. It is also useful when solar values were not available from NOAA at the time you logged your QSOs. If, for example, the NOAA server was down, or your Internet connection was out.

Note: Before you can use the **Historic Solar Indices Update** facility for the very first time, you must (*one-time*) configure access to NOAA's FTP server in the **Properties for Retrieving Historic Solar Indices from NOAA** area. Refer to the on-line **Help** for instructions.

Then to update:

- Start the Historic Solar Indices Update facility from the Edit menu of the Station Log window and click Get to download historic indices from NOAA using the FTP Client specified. The Get function works the same as it does on the Preferences window. Refer to the on-line Help for instructions.
- 2. After the **Get** operation is completed, if desired specify the desired date range filter in the **Filter Options** area. If you want to update your entire log, enter no dates.

Historic Solar Indices Update						
Last Operation Information	Update Status					
Last NOAA Get: July 10, 2021 16:34	Call Sign: KE7NR/P	Get				
Last Historic Update: July 10, 2021 16:36	Date: 2021-7-7	Run				
	Start: 17:17	Close				
Filter Options	651, 76					
Date From: 07/10/2021	SF1: 70	<u>C</u> lear				
	Ap: 6					
07/10/2021	Kp: 1					
Properties for Retrieving Historic Solar Indices From NC)AA	1				
User Name: anonymous Password:	anonymous					
FTP Client: C:\Program Files\FileZilla FTP Client\filezilla.exe						
Command ftp://anonymous:anonymous@ftp.swpc.noaa.go	vlocal=					
Solar Folder: C:\DXtremeStationLog15\solar						
Append Solar Folder to the Final Comr	nand Line?					
Final FTP Client Command Line						
C:\Program Files\FileZilla FTP Client\filezilla.exe ftp://anonymous:anonymous@ftp.swpc.noaa.gov local=C:\DXtremeStationLog15\solar						
Run the update.						

3. Click **Run** and wait until **Station Log 15** informs you the update is complete. You cannot stop an update in process.



4. Click **OK** and the date and time of the update appears on the **Historic Solar Indices Update** window.

Notes:

- DXtreme Software is not responsible for the future availability or accuracy of solar information from NOAA.
- Solar updates are database-specific.

Support

Our support is second to none.

You get support by Internet e-mail.

So, if you need help, drop us a line and we'll do our best to assist you.

Write to us at: support@dxtreme.com.